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Vice Chairman’s Statement

Bl EEHRS

To Our Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of CT Vision S.L. (International)
Holdings Limited (the “Company’, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”), | am pleased to present you with the annual report for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

The year 2024 presented a dynamic and challenging economic
environment for China. Faced with subdued consumer demand and
market uncertainties, the outlook appeared clouded. However, in
a decisive move, the government implemented robust economic
stimulus measures in late September, aiming to reinvigorate growth
and bolster confidence. These strategic actions spurred renewed
optimism across markets, fostering signs of recovery in both
consumer sentiment and spending.

Against this backdrop, our company demonstrated resilience and
adaptability. As a participant in renewable energy, we embraced the
evolving landscape by reinforcing our commitment to sustainable
progress.

In 2024, we achieved significant milestones, including expanding
our project portfolio and enhancing operational efficiency. Our
dedication to delivering cutting-edge solutions enabled us to meet
the growing demand for renewable energy infrastructure, while
contributing to China’s energy transition goals.

Looking ahead, we remain steadfast in our mission to advance
renewable energy technologies and provide reliable power grid
solutions. By aligning our growth strategy with China’s national
vision for a greener and more sustainable future, we aim to create
value for all stakeholders — our clients, partners, and communities.

With unwavering focus and collaborative spirit, we are confident

in navigating the opportunities and challenges of the year ahead,
driving progress toward a cleaner and brighter tomorrow.
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Vice Chairman’s Statement

Bl EEHRS

OUTLOOK

According to the document titled “China’s Policies and Actions
for Addressing Climate Change’, published by the Ministry of
Ecology and Environment, China aims to fully establish a clean,
low-carbon, safe, and efficient energy system by 2060. The nation
aspires to elevate its energy utilization efficiency to international
advanced standards and increase the proportion of non-fossil
In alignment with these policies,
a significant expansion in renewable energy power plants is

fuel consumption to over 80%.

anticipated, which will invariably lead to heightened demand for
the Group's specialized services and expertise. Recognizing the
robust demand and substantial earning potential, the Group is
resolutely committed to enhancing profitability through all possible
In addition, to ensure financial resilience and support
these growth objectives, the Group will implement rigorous cost-

measures.

cutting initiatives. These include streamlining operations, optimizing
resource allocation, and adopting innovative technologies to reduce
expenses while maintaining service excellence. Such measures
will enhance the Group's competitiveness in the evolving market
landscape.

APPRECIATION

I'would like to express my gratitude to all shareholders, customers,
suppliers and business partners for supporting the Group over the
years and contributing to the Group's healthy development. In
appreciation of your support, we will remain committed to moving
our business forward to achieve even greater success in the future.

Wu Rui
Vice Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEFTmE M

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activities of CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings
Limited (the “Company’, together with its subsidiaries, collectively
the “Group”) are (i) renewable energy business; (ii) e-commerce
business; and (iii) others which mainly include building information
modelling services.

In 2024, the global economy experienced moderate growth
as monetary policy restrictions eased and global trade trends
improved. Domestically, China navigated and overcame challenges
arising from complex internal and external environments, driving
socioeconomic progress and showcasing societal resilience. This
highlighted potential avenues for future growth and development.
The domestic economy remained stable overall, achieving notable
advances in high-quality development. Seizing the opportunities
presented by relatively favorable economic conditions, the Group
recorded significant growth in both revenue and gross profit.
However, a notable increase in operating expenses, primarily due to
the implementation of new marketing strategies in the ecommerce
division, contributed to a larger net loss despite the overall
improvements.

Renewable energy business

TIEN New Energy Development Limited (“TIEN New Energy”) is an
investment holding company and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in engineering development and qualified form main
engineering, procurement and construction in electric power
projects in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") with a focus in
application of renewable in the construction sector of the PRC.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, renewable energy
business contributed approximately HK$528.9 million revenue
(2023: HK$332.5 million) of the Group. As at the date of this
report, the Group had a total of 4 contracts (2023: 5 contracts)
on hand (including contracts in progress and contracts yet to be
commenced) and the amount of contract sum yet to be recognised
as at 31 December 2024 amounted to approximately RMB440.8
million (2023: RMB224.4 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE AT

E-commerce business

Zhejiang CT Shunlian Network Technology Company Limited* (G
IR B B4R B RAE]) is principally engaged in the
provision of procurement service and related online and offline
consultation services to e-commerce companies.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the e-commerce
business contributed approximately HK$27.8 million revenue (2023:
HK$12.0 million) to the Group.

Others
Building information modelling services

Nanjing CT Vision Smart City Technology Limited* (B R P XZE1S
EERTEEARAT) is principally engaged in the provision of
building information modelling services.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the building information
modelling business contributed approximately HKS$1.4 million
revenue (2023: HK$1.3 million) to the Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's revenue
amounted to approximately HK$558.1 million (2023: HK$345.8
million). The increase was mainly attributable to the increase in
revenue from renewable energy business of approximately HK$196.4
million.

The Group's gross profit margin increased from approximately
6.0% in 2023 to gross profit margin of approximately 7.2% in 2024.
The increase in gross profit margin was mainly due to the change
in revenue mix. E-commerce business contributed higher gross
profit margin than renewable energy business. The proportion of
e-commerce business on total revenue increased.

*  For identification purpose only
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEF DT

Selling and administrative expenses (the “S&A Expenses’) $5ERTHEY (HERTHEX)) T20EE
primarily comprise staff costs, business development expenses, L7 ¥(EREER LEBS FE VETE
transportation expenses, depreciation, bank charges, office expenses A NMAZERET R EXERH  c AN S IHRFSEE
and professional charges. Due to increase in marketing services Ml ZNEEIHE RITHE X B2023FEL376 0 85
fee, the S&A Expenses for the year increased by approximately  TCIEINA195E BB TELS/IBBBIT

HK$19.5 million to approximately HK$57.1 million, compared with

approximately HK$37.6 million in 2023.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND MEBEE MBERRERREE
CAPITAL STRUCTURE
As at As at
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
20245 F2023%4
12H31H 128315
Current ratio’ RENEEE 1.2 15
Gearing ratio (%) TEAR EE 2R (062 23.8 373
Net debt to equity ratio (%) HETSHE I L (%) (15.1) (6.8)
Interest coverage ratio* MEEBNE (74.1) (20.4)
Notes: MisE :
1. Current ratio based on the total current assets divided by the total 1. MELEERIBE RS EELERURSEEESE
current liabilities. EtEo

2. Gearing ratio based on the total debt (which includes borrowings, 2. BIRLEERIEEREE (BEER - HEEEK

lease liabilities and amount due to immediate holding company) P B IE R A B FUE) bR U s 4B BB SR LL100%
divided by total equity and multiplied by 100%. B

3. Net debt to equity ratio based on net debt (which include 3. FEBEEALLERIEER FHE (BFEHR -HE

borrowings, lease liabilities and amount due to immediate holding EERENEBIZERATDNEBERIES RIBTLHE
company less cash and bank balances) divided by equity attributable BR) BRIAR R B HEE AR T A100%5T 8 o

to owners of the Company and multiplied by 100%.

4. Interest coverage ratio based on the loss before tax and interest from 4. FEEMEREFESCE EEBRRAIEIE AT
continuing operations divided by finance costs incurred. BEBRUESEN M ATE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEE ST

EMPLOYEES

The Group had 25 employees as at 31 December 2024 (31
December 2023: 24 employees). The Group offers competitive
remuneration package that is based on overall market rates and
employee performance, as well as performance of the Group.
Remuneration package is comprised of salary, performance-based
bonus, and other benefits including training and provident funds.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Group had no capital commitments as at 31 December 2024.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the lease liability of a solar power system
granted to the Group was secured by the trade receivables of
approximately HK$45,000 (31 December 2023: HK$126,000) and
registered capital of a wholly-owned subsidiary amounted to
RMB10.0 million (31 December 2023: RMB10.0 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group had no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2024.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group has no significant exposure to foreign currency risk as
substantially all of the Group's transactions are denominated in
Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars (“USD") and Renminbi
("RMB"). In this respect, the only risk it is faced arose from exposure
mainly to RMB and USD. These risks were mitigated as the Group
held Hong Kong dollars, USD and RMB bank accounts to finance
transactions denominated in these currencies respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of its foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its
foreign currency exposure closely and will consider using hedging
instruments in respect of significant foreign currency exposure as
and when appropriate.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEF DT

SHARE OPTIONS

Written resolutions of the sole shareholder were passed on 23
June 2017 to adopt the share option scheme (the “Scheme”). No
share options have been granted, exercised or cancelled under the
Scheme since its adoption date and up to the date of this report.
The Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years after the
date of adoption.

PROSPECTS

According to the document titled “China’s Policies and Actions
for Addressing Climate Change’, published by the Ministry of
Ecology and Environment, China aims to fully establish a clean,
low-carbon, safe, and efficient energy system by 2060. The nation
aspires to elevate its energy utilization efficiency to international
advanced standards and increase the proportion of non-fossil
fuel consumption to over 80%. In alignment with these policies,
a significant expansion in renewable energy power plants is
anticipated, which will invariably lead to heightened demand for
the Group's specialized services and expertise. Recognizing the
robust demand and substantial earning potential, the Group is
resolutely committed to enhancing profitability through all possible
measures. In addition, to ensure financial resilience and support
these growth objectives, the Group will implement rigorous cost-
cutting initiatives. These include streamlining operations, optimizing
resource allocation, and adopting innovative technologies to reduce
expenses while maintaining service excellence. Such measures
will enhance the Group's competitiveness in the evolving market
landscape.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE AT

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

On 28 July 2023, the Company entered into a placing agreement
with a placing agent in relation to the placing of a maximum
number of 90,000,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the
Company (the "Placing”) at the gross price of HK$0.40 per share. The
completion of the Placing took place on 8 January 2024 and a total
of 37,176,000 new ordinary shares, the aggregate nominal value
of which is HK$371,760, of the Company have been successfully
placed by the placing agent to not less than six places at a net
price of HK$0.39. The gross proceeds from the Placing amounted
approximately to HK$14.9 million. The net proceeds, after the
deduction of the relevant expenses, from the Placing amounted
to approximately HK$14.4 million which had been fully utilised
according to the intended purposes previously disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 8 January 2024.

On 8 January 2024, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with Mr. Ding Ji, an independent third party investor
(the “Subscriber”) in relation to the subscription of a maximum
number of 40,000,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the
Company (the “Subscription”), the aggregate nominal value of
which is HK$400,000, at a gross price and a net price of HK$0.40
and HK$0.39 per share respectively. The completion of the
Subscription took place on 11 March 2024 and a total of 40,000,000
new ordinary shares of the Company were successfully subscribed
by the Subscriber. The gross proceeds from the Subscription
amounted to HK$16.0 million. The net proceeds, after the deduction
of the relevant commission and other related expenses, from the
Subscription amounted to approximately HK$15.8 million which had
been fully utilised according to the intended purposes and timeline
previously disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 8
January 2024.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

SEkEHREEASRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The composition of the Board of Directors during the year end up to
the date of this annual report is set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wu Rui (“Mr. Wu”), aged 50, joined the Group as an executive
Director and the vice chairman on 26 April 2019. Mr. Wu has
extensive experience in international trading business and
transnational investment. He graduated from Shanghai Customs
College in July 1995 and subsequently joined the Ford Motor
Company, a vehicle manufacturer based in the United States of
America, as a customs specialist since September 1995, where he
was responsible for analysing the import and export data, managing
the supply chain of the company and conducting research on
General Agreement on Tariff and Trade. From December 1998 to
January 2002, Mr. Wu worked for GE Healthcare Corp. (formerly
known as Amersham Pharmaceutical PLC), a company with principal
business of research and development of medical technology and
life science as the director of the global supply chain development
(Far East) and was responsible for managing the supply chain of
the company and the project “Sourcing from China” From March
2002 to June 2015, he served as the general manager of Beijing
Grand Integrity Merchants Company* QL RHERBEEERA
B]) (a company principally engaged in trading of construction
materials), where he was responsible for looking for global business
opportunities in relation to new material of architecture. Since
December 2015, Mr. Wu served as the managing director of Xinjiang
Kaige Energy Company, a company that is principally engaged in
clean energy business, where he was responsible for searching for
global green technology business opportunities and handling new-
energy-related projects of the company.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

SEkEREEAERE

Mr. Guo Jianfeng (“Mr. Guo”), aged 53, graduated from
Jiangsu Open University with a bachelor's degree in Engineering
Management. Instructor for master students in Southeast University,
Senior Engineer. He once worked for Yancheng Transportation
Bureau, Jiangsu Province* CLERE B ERE), China City
Construction 2nd Engineering Bureau Co., Ltd* (FRIfiESE — T2
BABRAT) as branch company general manager, and Jiangsu
Zhongmeng Energy Group Co. Ltd* CLEAHERFEREBERA
@) as the president. He was the general manager of the Jiangsu
branch company of Tian Hong Yang Guang New Energy Investment
Co. Ltd* CRZRBEICHBEIRILE B RAT]) . He has over 30 years
of experience in the construction and new energy industry and has
participated in various large-scale construction projects and new
energy investment projects. He has joined Jiangsu Zhong Tian Hui
New Energy Technology Co. Ltd.* CIL#k & REMEREIEBR
‘AF]) since November 2015 as chief operation officer. He joined
the Group as an executive Director on 6 July 2018. He is also a
director of TIEN New Energy Development Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

SEkEHREEASRE

Mr. Sun Dexin (“Mr. Sun”), aged 37, joined the Group as an
executive Director on 7 March 2023. Mr. Sun graduated from the
Financial Management program of Cheung Kong Graduate School
of Business with a Master of Business Administration degree. He has
over 10 years of experience in the management and investment
of listed companies. In 2014, he obtained senior management
membership certification in the Energy sector from TUV NORD (the
world’s largest inspection agency). From March 2015 to the present,
he has served as the Chief Executive Officer of Shenzhen Zhongtian
Hongxin Private Equity Fund Management Co., Ltd. From October
2017 to August 2018, he served as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of Baining International (08132.HK), a GEM-listed company
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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SEkEREEAERE

Non-executive Directors

Dr. Ho Chun Kit Gregory (“Dr. Ho"), aged 47, joined the Group
as an executive Director and the chief executive officer on 26
April 2019 and was redesignated to a non-executive Director
on 25 April 2023. He obtained his bachelor degree of Business
Accounting from the Monash University of Australia in 2002 and
completed his dissertation of “One Belt, One Road Post-Doctoral
Research Programme” at the University of Oxford in May 2018. Dr.
Ho has extensive experience in finance and investment, especially
in the renewable energy and technology, media and telecom
(TMT) industry. He has previously participated in the investment
in smart energy cities in the PRC, which involved green building
construction projects and application of renewable energy in the
construction sector. Dr. Ho is currently the chairman of Asia-Pacific
Smarter Energy Alliance (BR KB EAEVRAEZEE ). Dr. Ho was an
executive director of Century Energy International Holdings Limited
(formerly known as China Oil Gangran Energy Group Holdings
Limited), a company listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 08132) from May
2013 to February 2019. He was also an independent non-executive
director of Asia Resources Holdings Limited, a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00899) from
February 2015 to October 2016, and an independent nonexecutive
director of Sunrise (China) Technology Group Limited (now known
as Koala Financial Group Limited), a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 08226) from April 2014 to August 2016.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

SEkEHREEASRE

Mr. Lu Qiwei (“Mr. Lu”), aged 41, joined the Group as a non-
executive Director on 25 January 2021. Mr. Lu obtained his
bachelor’s degree in information engineering from Chengdu
University of Technology in June 2007 and his master's degree in
business administration from Sun Yat-sen University in June 2014.
He is currently a national economics professional, first level/senior
technician in relation to corporate human resources management
(BR—#hiFE ANEREEEM), senior enterprise trainer
certified by the China Adult Education Association (CAEA) of
the Ministry of Education of the People’s Republic of China and
certified international senior professional lecturer of the American
Certification Institute. Mr. Lu has more than 10 years of experience
in working with foreign enterprises and management experience.
He worked in various companies including but not limited to UTAC
Dongguan Ltd. (888 (E5) BRAED), Magneti Marelli
Automotive Electronics (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd. (BIHFIRESE
(EM) BFR/AT)) and Delphi Packard Electric System Co., Ltd.
(EHRKCERAABRAT) before working in Zhejiang
Shunlian Network Technology Company Limited* G LIBH 43
BRI BAR/AB) as the vice president and the president of the
research institute.

Independent non-executive directors

Dr. Tang Dajie (“Dr. Tang”), aged 56, joined the Group as an
independent non-executive Director on 16 July 2019.

Dr. Tang has over 20 years of experience in investment, financing
and corporate management. He held various senior positions in
different companies, including the Vice President of Shenzhen
Capital Group Company Limited, the Deputy General Manager of
Shenzhen Airport (Group) Company Limited, the Managing Director
of Shenzhen High-tech Investment Group Company Limited, the
Manager of the Department of Investment of E Fund Management
Company Limited and the Director of China Southern Asset
Management. Since October 2015, Dr. Tang has been the chairman
and the founding partner of Triwise Capital Management Company
Limited.
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SEkEREEAERE

Dr. Tang also serves as the Vice Chairman of Shenzhen Venture
Capital Association, the Executive Vice President of Shenzhen
Science and Technology Entrepreneur Promotion Association, Vice
President of Shenzhen General Chamber of Commerce , President
of Xiamen University Shenzhen Finance Alumni Association (&9
REZFEYIER A ), Chief Investment Advisor of the National
Innovation Center for Advanced Medical Devices, and instructor
for Finance MBA at Xiamen University and Harbin Institute of
Technology, Shenzhen. Dr. Tang obtained his bachelor's degree
in business management from the Beijing University of Chemical
Technology in July 1990, his master's degree in monetary banking
from Xiamen University in July 1995 and his doctorate degree in
industrial economics from Jinan University in June 2007.

Dr. Lin Tat Pang (‘Dr. Lin"), aged 68, joined the Group as an
independent non-executive Director on 30 June 2022. He obtained
his Bachelor of Law, Master of Law and Doctor of Law, from Peking
University JEEAZE) in 1992, 1998 and 2009 respectively. He also
completed his Postgraduate Certificate in Hong Kong Law in City
University of Hong Kong (previously known as City Polytechnic of
Hong Kong) in 1993. Dr. Lin is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants, United Kingdom. He is also a
member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators, United Kingdom.
Dr. Lin has over 40 years of experience in accounting, finance and
public offerings. He was company secretary of Sun Hung Kai & Co.
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
with stock code: 00086) from November 1990 to November 1992.
He worked for Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and
the Stock Exchange between 1992 and March 2013, and his last
position was senior consultant to the Listing, Listing & Regulatory
Affairs Division of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited.
Dr. Lin has been an independent non-executive director of China
Aluminum Cans Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 06898) since June 2013, an independent
non-executive director of Leadway Technology Investment Group
Limited (previously known as HNA Technology Investments
Holdings Limited), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 02086) since December 2017 and an independent non-
executive director of 3D Medicines Inc,, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 01244) since December 2022.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

SEkEHREEASRE

Ms. Liu Zhen (“Ms. Liu”), aged 36, joined the Group as an
independent non-executive Director on 28 February 2025. She
holds a bachelor degree in finance from South China University
of Technology. She has over 13 years of experience in corporate
finance and investment experience. She previously worked at and
managed various renowned private equity and venture capital
funds.

Company Secretary

Mr. Fu Wing Kwok Ewing (“Mr. Fu”), aged 55, joined the Group
as the finance manager on 13 March 2023 and was promoted
and appointed as the financial controller, the company secretary
and the Authorised Representative under the Listing Rules and
the Authorised Representative under the Companies Ordinance
with effect from 30 November 2023. Mr. Fu is a member of both
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has over 30 years
of experience in auditing, financial management, accounting,
company secretarial field as well as extensive experience in dealing
with corporate governance and compliance matters for listed
companies.

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

Bt (MB&t)) > 3658 7202528288 MA
NERBREBIUIFNTES - REAEFMEIKR
BoMEE LB - HEABBIENTENSE
MR EERE - FEESRALLERE R AR
EESTRITaSEE I

NEE

BEERLE (MEEE]) > 5558 120235381380
AREEETHBECE ST ESEAY TS
ENTWE LHRIETHRERREATIK
BB TR R > B2023F 11 H30HEEE K &
REAETESHANEREASHAAETEE -
WRBE B EE g AENEEEEEA
0K WREE LT ATNEESAREGR
EEHSEREEEELR-

Annual Report 2024 R



Directors’ Report
EEFERS

The Board submits the annual report together with the audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 (the “Financial Statements”).

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company is a company incorporated in Cayman Islands and
domiciled in Hong Kong. The principal place of business of the
Company at Room Nos. 808-814, 8th Floor, Sun Hung Kai Centre, 30
Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company, and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in (i) renewable energy
business; (i) e-commerce business; and (i) others which mainly
include building information modelling services.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group, with the description of the
principal risk and uncertainties, for the year ended 31 December
2024 and the likely future development, are included in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report
on pages 6 to 11, which forms part of this report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS, SUBCONTRACTORS AND
SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's five largest
customers in aggregate accounted for approximately 92.8% (2023:
95.1%) of the Group's total revenue. The largest customer accounted
for approximately 86.9% (2023: 86.8%) of the Group's total revenue.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's five largest
subcontractors in aggregate accounted for approximately 80.1%
(2023: 96.8%) of the Group's total subcontracting fee. The largest
subcontractor accounted for approximately 29.0% (2023: 65.4%) of
the Group's total subcontracting fee.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's five largest
suppliers in aggregate accounted for approximately 72.5% (2023:
79.8%). The largest supplier accounted for approximately 26.3%
(2023: 37.0%) of the Group's total material costs.
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EEFERS

At no time during the year have directors, their associates or
any shareholder of the Company (which to knowledge of the
directors owns more than 5% of the number of issued shares
of the Company) had any interest in these major customers,
subcontractors and suppliers.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 84 to 85 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years are included in the
section headed “Financial Summary” in this annual report on page
188, which forms part of this report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

The Company did not enter into any contract, other than the
contracts of service with the directors or any person engaged in the
full-time employment of the Company, whereby any individual, firm
or body corporate undertakes the management and administration
of the whole, or any substantial part of any business of the
Company.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s shares.
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Directors' Report

SETHRS

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to shareholders of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$95.9 million (31 December 2023: HK$95.9 million).

Movements of the reserves of the Group are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 88 of this
annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the
note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a
written resolutions of the sole shareholder of the Company passed
on 23 June 2017 for the purpose of recognizing and motivating the
contributions that the eligible participants have made or may make
to the Group.

Pursuant to the Scheme, the Company may grant options to (i)
an executive; (i) the director or proposed director (including an
independent non-executive director) of any member of the Group;
(iii) the consultant, business or joint venture partner, franchisee,
contractor, agent or representative of any member of the Group; (iv)
the person or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support or any advisory, consultancy, professional
or other services to any member of the Group; and (v) the close
associate of any of the foregoing persons, to subscribe for shares in
the Company in accordance with the terms of the Scheme.

An offer of the grant of an option shall be deemed to have been
accepted when the acceptance letter of the option duly signed by
the grantee together with a remittance in favour of the Company
of HKS$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is received
by the Company within the period specified in the letter containing
the offer of the grant of the option. No offer shall be capable
of or remain open for acceptance after the expiry of 10 years
commencing on the Listing Date.
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The subscription price of a share shall not be less than the highest
of (i) the nominal value of the share; (ii) the closing price of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on
the offer date; and (iii) the average of the closing prices of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five
business days immediately preceding the offer date.

The share options granted are exercisable at any time during a
period as the Directors may determine which shall not exceed 10
years from the date of an offer for the grant of the option, subject to
the provisions for early termination contained in the Scheme, and
provided that the Directors may determine the minimum period
for which an option has to be held or other restrictions before its
exercise.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Scheme and any other
schemes must not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the number of
shares of the Company in issue on the Listing Date (i.e. 51,200,000
shares). The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% in aggregate of
the shares of the Company in issue. The maximum number of shares
which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company must not, in aggregate,
exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from time to
time.

The Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years after the
date of adoption.

No share options have been granted, exercised or cancelled under
the Scheme since its adoption date and up to the date of this
annual report and the total number of shares available for grant
under the Scheme was 51,200,000 Shares, representing 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company of the Listing Date.
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SETHRS

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to this annual report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wu Rui (Vice chairman)

Mr. Guo Jianfeng

Mr. Sun Dexin

Mr. Ding Ji (appointed on 15 April 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Dr. Ho Chun Kit Gregory
Mr. Lu Qiwei

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Tang Dajie

Mr. Ng Kwun Wan (resigned on 2 December 2024)
Dr. Lin Tat Pang

Ms. Liu Zhen (appointed on 28 Februray 2025)

Pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles of Association, one-third of
the Directors for the time being, or if their number is not three or
a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third, shall retire from office by rotation at every annual general
meeting of the Company provided that every Director (including
those appointed for a specific item) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be
eligible for re-election.

Further, pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles of Association, any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as a
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the first
general meeting of the Company after his appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting.

In accordance with Articles 108(a) and 112 of the Articles of
Association, Mr. Sun Dexin, Dr. Lin Tat Pang, Ms. Liu Zhen and Mr. Lu
Qiwei shall retire from office at the 2025 annual general meeting
(the “2025 AGM"). All of the above retiring Directors, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at the 2025 AGM.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management are
set out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management”on pages 12 to 18 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

All Directors have entered into a service contract with our Company
for an initial fixed term of three years and renewable automatically
until terminated by not less than three months notice in writing
served by either party on the other expiring at the end of the initial
term or any time thereafter.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the 2025
AGM has a service contract with any member of the Group which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is not provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company'’s
Articles of Association and there was no restriction against such
rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that every Director shall be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses and
liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director in the execution
of his duties or otherwise in relation thereto, provided that such
indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of fraud or
dishonesty which may attach to such Director. There is appropriate
directors” and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and officers of the Group. Such provision was in force as of date of
this annual report and during the financial year ended 31 December
2024.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which
the company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a material
interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at the 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of
the Directors in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations, within the meaning of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"), which (a) were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to recorded in the register
referred to therein; or (c) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”") as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules, were as
follows:

Long position in the shares of the Company

EENX 5 RN GOTHIER

RERNFEREMERE ARE  FEEAER
A -WEBABNFRMBLARABEIEES
REFHEEEAREZNENERRS ZHH

PaN
S4 o

EFNEFPRE DR

2024128318 EER AR B REAKEZE
(EERBSMBEHRA (TEB5RBE®ERE))
BIBR 5 ~ ABREBR 1D S ERESE P FTE A ()R IR
B S IEB EXVEE T RN B BNE AT K
MW ERRXE (BEREES RS K
AR XHEERREEENERZARR) ; &
(DIEIE B H R E IR B E352E BN ZIEFRIEE
SEMERNERERE ; HOBRBESHN EHHRA
MG EmETAERETESRZNIZE
SPR) (MZEFR))) BRIE RN B K B2 Py
WmAEAWT

REQABRGPEEE

Percentage of

Number of shareholding in

Name of director Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held the Company
GAAE

EENR B HmtE i 55 8% 197 2 B IR HER 5 LE
Mr. Ding Ji (“Mr. Ding") Beneficial interest 40,000,000 431%

TEEE ((THRED BmiEm
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EERHE

Long position in the Shares of associated corporation of the

RAEAEEBCEBRIRGPHTFE

Company:
Name of Capacity/ Approximate
Name of Directors associated corporation nature of interest Total interests Percentage
EENY HE Bt K B % 18 89 HmtE RE 7 A=Al an
Dr. Ho Chun Kit Gregory CT Vision Investment Limited Beneficial owner 448,000 22.4%
("CT Vision Investment”)
I g+ HFREERERRAT EmBERAA 448,000 22.4%
(ThXEERED)
Mr. Wu Rui CT Vision Investment Beneficial owner 156,000 7.8%
SmcE RRRERE BHEBA 156,000 7.8%

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN

SECURITIES

So far as was known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2024, the
following persons (not being Directors or chief executive of the
Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed

to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or who were directly or
indirectly interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class
of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of any member of the Group:

FERRNESTNEDR

FRE BT 522024128318 LUF AL (E3E
BEFENARNBRSTEHAL) KRG NAERRKMD
A R AR RIRE 5 R B E & E HXVED
F2R37 BHVE AR A A B B Bt 32 P il B2 Y A
KB WRMHERERN AT RFIE BT T EARE
EEAREARNKREAE LR AN T AER R
NEEFE R EEEE %I SR

Percentage of

Capacity/ Number of shareholding in
Name of Shareholders Nature of interest Shares held the Company
P AN
IRERBIE g9 #niE Fikclsant 4= I HEE 5 kb
CT Vision Investment Beneficial interest 479,160,000 51.63%
RXRERE EmiEnm
Ms. Lin Zhiling (“Ms. Lin")! Interest in a controlled 479,160,000 51.63%
corporation
MEELZL (ML) SZEGEEER
Condover Assets Limited (“Condover Assets”) Beneficial interest 53,236,000 5.74%
Condover Assets Limited (T Condover Assets ) B Em
Dr. Kan Hou Sek, Jim ("Dr. Kan")? Interest in a controlled 53,236,000 5.74%

BEHEL (EEtl):
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Percentage of

Capacity/ Number of shareholding in

Name of Shareholders Nature of interest Shares held the Company

HEAE

IREEIE 55 #EmtE Fi 5 % 15 8 B g A= agen

Mr. Lee Sai Man ("Mr. Lee") Interest in a controlled 53,236,000 5.74%

corporation

FREE ((FkE)) RIEGEEE S

Ms. Poon Man Yee* Interest of spouse 53,236,000 5.74%

Bt BB

Ms. Sheba Kishinchand Daswani® Interest of spouse 53,236,000 5.74%

B LS BB

Mr. Guo Hongan Beneficial interest 60,000,000 6.47%

Cpe S g BaEn

Notes: Mo -

1. Ms. Lin beneficially owns 44.80% of the issued share capital of CT 1. MELTEREEPREERE4480%E BT
Vision Investment. Therefore, Ms. Lin is deemed, or taken to be, KoFI B LSERPEEAMS ML T
interested in all the Shares held by CT Vision Investment for the HAEAREERN PR ELEFMITENFRAR
purpose of the SFO. AR

2. Dr. Kan beneficially owns 50% of the issued share capital of 2. 18 B w #E B Condover Assets 50% 8 1T
Condover Assets. Therefore, Dr. Kan is deemed, or taken to be, KoFHI  FBELSRPEEAMS > E1ELTH
interested in all the Shares held by Condover Assets for the purpose BAEER Condover AssetsFiis A BIFRA I%
of the SFO. PR
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3. Mr. Lee beneficially owns 50% of the issued share capital of
Condover Assets. Therefore, Mr. Lee is deemed, or taken to be,
interested in all the Shares held by Condover Assets for the purpose
of the SFO.

4. Ms. Poon Man Yee is the spouse of Dr. Kan. Accordingly Ms. Poon
Man Yee is deemed, or taken to be, interested in all the Shares in
which Dr. Kan is interested for the purpose of the SFO.

5. Ms. Sheba Kishinchand Daswani is the spouse of Mr. Lee.
Accordingly Ms. Sheba Kishinchand Daswani is deemed, or taken to
be, interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Lee is interested for the
purpose of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors were
not aware of any other person (other than the Directors) who had,
or was deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO, or who was directly or indirectly interested
in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of
any member of the Group.

DIRECTORS' RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Directors’
Interests and short positions in Securities” above, at no time during
the year was the Company, its holding company, subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors of the Company or their associates to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of Shares or debentures of the Company or
any other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries had purchase, sell or
redeem any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The significant related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 29 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

None of these related party transactions constitute a connected
transaction (as defined in the Listing Rules) that is required to be
disclosed.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules from
the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company did not have the Chairman of the Board and the Chief
Executive Officer since the passing of our former chairlady and the
resignation of our former chief executive officer respectively last
year. The Board is in the process of locating appropriate persons
to fill the vacancies of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.
Even so, the Board considers that the existing Board members are
able to share the power and responsibilities of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer among themselves.

Save as discussed above, the Company has applied the principles
of all the applicable code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code (the "CG Code") as set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules
as its own code on corporate governance practices. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, the Company has complied with all code
provisions set out in the CG Code.
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in the mandatory provident fund prescribed
by the Mandatory Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). Save as the aforesaid, the Group did not
participate in any other pension schemes during the year ended 31
December 2024.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers contained in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct of
dealings in securities of the Company by Directors. Upon specific
enquires of all the Directors, each of them confirmed that they have
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
during the year.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no material subsequent event undertaken by the Company
or the Group after 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report.

AUDITOR

The Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
have been audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, who will retire
and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the 2025
AGM.

By order of the Board
Sun Dexin

Executive Director

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report
of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has
complied with all the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code") contained in Appendix C1 of the
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules upon the Listing. All
the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code during the year ended 31
December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report in response
to the specific enquiry made by the Company.

The Board has established written guidelines no less exacting than
the Model Code for relevant employees in respect of their dealings
in the securities of the company as required under the CG Code.
No incident of non-compliance of such guidelines by the relevant
employees was noted by the Company during the year ended 31
December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report.

THE BOARD

The Board acts in good faith, with due diligence and care, to
discharge its duties concerning the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders. The primary role of the Board is to protect
and enhance long term shareholders' value; it also oversees the
management, business, strategies and financial performance of
the Group to ensure that good corporate governance policies and
practices are implemented within the Group. The management is
responsible for the execution of the strategies in the Group's daily
operations and the implementation of the risk management and
internal control systems.
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The composition of the Board during the year and up to the date of
this annual report is set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wu Rui (Vice chairman)

Mr. Guo Jianfeng

Mr. Sun Dexin

Mr. Ding Ji (appointed on 15 April 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Dr. Ho Chun Kit Gregory
Mr. Lu Qiwei

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Tang Dajie

Mr. Ng Kwun Wan (resigned on 2 December 2024)
Dr. Lin Tat Pang

Ms. Liu Zhen (appointed on 28 February 2025)

The biographies of the Directors during the year and up to the date
of this annual report and the relationships among them are set out
in the “Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management” section
on pages 12 to 18 of this annual report.

CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER (“CEO”)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Ms. Du Yi, Chairlady of
the Company passed away on 12 August 2023, and Dr. Ho Chun Kit
Gregory, chief executive officer of the Company, resigned and was
redesignated as non-executive Director on 25 April 2023.

The Company did not have the Chairman of the Board and the Chief
Executive Officer since her passing and his resignation respectively.
The Board is in the process of locating appropriate persons to fill the
vacancies of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. Even so, the
Board considers that the existing Board members are able to share
the power and responsibilities of Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer among themselves, as detailed below.

Following the passing of Ms. Du, the Board has become a single-
gender board, thereby resulting in non-compliance with the
requirement prescribed by Rule 13.92 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).
Nonetheless, the Company appointed Ms. Liu Zhen as an INED on 28
February 2025 and has achieved re-compliance of with Rule 13.92.
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Based on Code C.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief executive
should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman
and chief executive should be clearly established and set out in
writing. The Board's current significant decisions are made in Board
meetings. Every Board member has the rights and responsibility
to propose Board meetings to discuss significant issues he/she
concerns, and has the power to make the decisions among other
Board members.

With reference to Code C.2.2, in each Board meeting, the director
who proposes that meeting (the “Convenor”) would generally be
appointed as the chairman of the meeting in accordance with the
articles of association of the Company, and he/she has to ensure all
directors briefed on issues arising at board meeting.

With reference to Code C.2.3, the Convenor has to provide the
meeting agenda and materials (the “Board Papers”) to the company
secretary, and the company secretary will then pass the Board
Papers to other Board members for their review. Unless urgent
matters to be discussed, it is the Board's practice that the Board
Papers have to be given to the Board at least 3 days in advance of
the Board meetings. Other Board members should have enough
time to read the Board Papers and raise questions and/or request
more information before holding the Board meetings. For the urgent
Board meetings, the Convenor and/or company secretary have to
contact individual Director about the details of the agenda meeting
and the reasons of urgency. Every Board member has the right to
request additional time to understand the agenda details and delay
the Board meeting.

With reference to Code C.2.4, the executive Directors jointly provide
leadership of the Board, and ensure the Board works effectively and
perform its responsibilities, and that all key and appropriate issues
are discussed by it in a timely manner. As mentioned above, all
Directors have the rights to propose Board meetings. The company
secretary has to summarise all agenda items and circulate the
agenda to all Board members.

With reference to Code C.2.5, the Board members share the
responsibility to ensure good corporate governance practices and
procedures are established. It is the practice of the Board to discuss
corporate governance issues in the meetings to approve the interim
and annual results.
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With reference to Code C.2.6, the executive Directors share the
responsibility of encouraging all directors to make a full and active
contribution to the Board's affairs and take the lead to ensure that
it acts in the best interest of the Company. The Convenor has the
responsibility to encourage other Directors with different views to
voice their concerns, allow sufficient time for discussion of issues
and ensure the Board decisions fairly reflected Board consensus.

With reference to Code C.2.7, the independent non-executive
Directors hold at least a meeting among themselves annually, to
consider and discuss any significant issues of the Company and the
Board, without influence from the executive Directors.

With reference to Code C.2.8, the executive Directors share the
responsibility of ensuring that appropriate steps are taken to provide
effective communication with shareholders and that their views are
communicated to the Board as a whole. It is a general practice that
the executive Directors will discuss the shareholder’s viewpoints
with non-executive Directors in the Board meeting following a
shareholders’ meeting.

With reference to Code C.2.9, the executive Directors share the
responsibility of promoting a culture of openness and debate by
facilitating the effective contribution of non-executive Directors in
particular and ensuring constructive relations between executive
and non-executive Directors. As mentioned above, all directors,
including non-executive Directors, have the right to propose a
board meeting to discuss the issues they consider important, and
enough time is reserved for all Directors to read the Board Papers
and raise questions. It is the Board's practice to encourage the non-
executive Directors to raise their viewpoints in Board meetings.

With reference to Code E.1.1, the remuneration committee of the
Board would consult any one of the executive Directors of the
Company about their remuneration proposals for other executive
Directors.

With reference to Code F.2.2, the Board appoints as least one
executive Director to attend the annual general meeting, due to the
chairmanship vacancy. The executive Directors have to invite the
chairman of the audit, remuneration and nomination committees of
the Board to attend the annual general meeting.

With reference to Code C.6.3, it is the Company's practice that the
company secretary report to the executive Directors.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The executive Directors are responsible for running the Group
and executing the strategies adopted by the Board. They lead the
Group's management team in accordance with the directions set
by the Board and are responsible for ensuring that proper internal
control system is in place and the Group’s business conforms to
applicable laws and regulations. The executive Directors bring a
good balance of skills and experience to the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The non-executive Directors provide a wide range of expertise
and experience and bring independent judgment on issues
relating to the Group's strategies, development, performance and
risk management through their contribution at the Board and
committee meetings.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs") provide their
independent judgment on the development, performance and risk
management of the Group. The INEDs serve the important function
of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective corporate
governance framework. Their participation provides adequate
checks and balances to safeguard the interests of the Group and
its shareholders including the review of continuing connected
transactions described below. The Board consists of three INEDs
and all of them have appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. The Board
confirms that the Company has received from each of the INEDs a
confirmation of independence for the Year pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and considers such Directors to be independent.

The Directors are fully aware that they individually and collectively
accountable to shareholders.

The executive Directors have entered into employment contracts
with the Company and each of the non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors have been appointed on
a specific term of three years. Notwithstanding the specific term
of appointments, the articles of association of the Company (the
“Articles of Association’) provide that every Directors shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at the annual general meeting at
least once every three years. At each annual general meeting, one-
third of the Directors for the time being shall retire shall retire from
office by rotation and be eligible for re-election by the shareholders.
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Pursuant to Rule 3.10 and 3.10A of Listing Rules, the Board must
include at least three INEDs and an issuer must appoint INEDs
representing at least one-third of its board. Immediately following
the resignation of Mr. Ng Kwun Wan on 2 December 2024, the
number of INEDs of the Company has been reduced to two only and
the Company only appointed INEDs representing less than one-third
of the Board, resulting in non-compliance with the requirements
prescribed by Rule 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. Despite
previous non-compliance, the Company has reappointed Ms. Liu
Zhen as an INED effective 28 February 2025, thereby restoring
compliance with Rule 13.92.

Save as the matters disclosed above, throughout the year ended 31
December 2024, the Board consistently adhered to the Listing Rules
requirements, maintaining at least three independent non-executive
Directors. These Directors represented one-third of the Board,
with at least one member possessing the requisite professional
qualifications or expertise in accounting or related financial
management.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that
all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The management, consisting of executive Directors along with other
senior executive, is delegated with responsibilities for implementing
the strategy and direction as adopted by the Board from time to
time, and conducting the day-to-day operations of the Group.
Executive Directors and senior executives meet regularly to review
the performance of the businesses of the Group as a whole, co-
ordinate overall resources and make financial and operational
decisions. The Board also gives clear directions as to their powers of
management including circumstances where management should
report back, and will review the delegation arrangements on a
periodic basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs
of the Group.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall
strategy as well as the operation and financial performance of
the Group. Directors may participate either in person or through
electronic means of communication.

Pursuant to code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, the Board should
meet regularly and board meetings should be held at least four
times a year.

The attendance of the respective Directors to the board meeting
and general meeting during the year are set out below:

EFTEERRRAT

EFEEPRRT RS REIEBRE R KR
$§.E'D L&ﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁfﬁ EFHRIHIAUE
Dﬂﬁ_t = /\ = —%_:0

BEBEEEERTRINTIEXCS 1 EFERTE
HHE EEgeRREFAREIR

BRESFFALFEFTEERRRAGHNERH
FI0E

Number of attendance/ Number of
meetings entitled to attend

HEHE EREENEEHE
Board General Meeting

EEg RRAE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wu Rui (Vice chairman) RInLE BIL/E) 0/7 0/1
Mr. Guo Jianfeng Bl 4/7 0/1
Mr. Sun Dexin BRESLE 6/7 1/1
Mr. Ding Ji (appointed on 15 April 2024) TEESE (FR20245E45 15 HEZ ) 1/7 0/1
Non-executive Directors FRITES
Dr. Ho Chun Kit Gregory B EE L 0/7 0/1
Mr. Lu Qiwei EEEREE 1/7 0/1
Independent Non-executive Directors BIERITES
Dr. Tang Dajie mANEL 3/7 1/1
Mr. Ng Kwun Wan (resigned on 2 December 2024)  2REHR4E (120241252 H FHF) 6/7 1/1
Dr. Lin Tat Pang BIERIE T 6/7 1/1
Ms. Liu Zhen (appointed on 28 Februray 2025) BRI I (7202552528 H EZT) 0/0 0/0
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF DIRECTORS

All Directors confirmed to comply with the provision of the CG
Code in relation to continuous professional development during the
year. In doing so, the Directors have undertaken various forms of
activities relevant to the Company’s business, Directors' duties and
responsibilities.

The record of continuous professional development relating to
director’s duties and regulatory and business development that
have been received by the Directors during the year ended 31
December 2024 are summarised as follows:

EFFETXER

FIEESHIARENERN—EBTERTERE
ZEMNEEEATURX BRI EFXC2HEH
ARBDEB BEFRBRBENSELE

REE2024FE N2 HIEFEE  EFEEBERTNER
EEREUNEEREREENTESERRERD
BFFHIE

Type of Training

(Note)
sEIEE R
(P 3%)
Executive Directors BiTES
Mr. Wu Rui (Vice chairman) RInkE BIFE) A B
Mr. Guo Jianfeng SR I S A B
Mr. Sun Dexin rIRBLRE A B
Mr. Ding Ji (appointed on 15 April 2024) TR (FRo024FE48 15 HEZ(T) A B
Non-executive Directors ERITES
Dr. Ho Chun Kit Gregory (CIKERES A, B
Mr. Lu Qiwei BER R AL A B
Independent Non-executive Directors BIERITES
Dr. Tang Dajie 5%j(, N n A B
Mr. Ng Kwun Wan (resigned on 2 December 2024) R BRI (FR2024F 1252 H B HE) A B
Dr. Lin Tat Pang LLﬂﬂ%ﬁi A B
Ms. Liu Zhen (appointed on 28 Februray 2025) R+ (R2025F2/528H EZ(E) A B
Note: B 5E

Type of Training

A Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and
relevant publications

LR

AL HEEHEE QEETRRHEY  H
o HER T

B: REAMNTERETR RS8BT M5 KkE
e tH AR 4
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established certain committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee (collectively, the “Board Committee”), to oversee
specific aspects of the Company’s affairs. The Board Committees are
established with specific written terms of reference which clearly
outline the committees’ authority and duties. The terms of reference
of the Board Committees are posted on the Company’s website and
the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders upon
request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
independent non-executive Directors. The members of the Board
committees during the year are set out below:

Audit Committee

Dr. Lin Tat Pang (Chairman) (appointed as Chairman of
audit committee on 28 fFebruary 2025)
Mr. Ng Kwun Wan (Chairman) (resigned on 2 December 2024)
Dr. Tang Dajie
Ms. Liu Zhen (appointed on 28 Februray 2025)

Remuneration Committee

Dr. Lin Tat Pang (Chairman)

Mr. Wu Rui

Mr. Ng Kwun Wan (resigned on 2 December 2024)
Dr. Tang Dajie (appointed on 2 December 2024)
Ms. Liu Zhen (appointed on 28 Februray 2025)

Nomination Committee

Dr. Tang Dajie (Chairman) (appointed as Chairman of
nomination committee on 2 December 2024)

Dr. Ho Chun Kit Gregory

Mr. Ng Kwun Wan (resigned on 2 December 2024)

Dr. Lin Tat Pang

Ms. Liu Zhen (appointed on 28 Februray 2025)
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has set up the Audit Committee on 23 June 2017 with
written terms of reference of no less exacting terms than those set
out in the CG Code. The main duties of the Audit Committee are to
assist the Board in reviewing the financial information and reporting
process, internal control and risk management systems, scope of
audit and appointment of external auditors, and arrangements to
enable employees of the Company to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters
of the Company.

In accordance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, every listed issuer
is required to establish an audit committee that consists solely of
non-executive directors. The audit committee must have a minimum
of three members, with at least one member being an independent
non-executive director. Following the resignation of Mr. Ng, the
audit committee of the Company has only two members, resulting
in non-compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. To address the
previous non-compliance, the Company has appointed Ms. Liu Zhen
as an INED as of 28 February 2025, thus restoring compliance with
Rule 3.21.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, four Audit Committee
meetings were held. The attendance of each member to the Audit
Committee Meeting is as follows:

BEZE8Y

AT ER2017FE68 230 BIZEE T 5]
ERBREEEATHNERN S @B EEE-
EZRESNTERSOERESTTEIME
ERRRRER NS AR EERA  TZ
EE R IMNEZ BN T > UK EARABRED
BAN BB PSR ~ BRI I 25 E R BE
RBERITAIRER N D HE-

RiE EHRBE3 2116 &% EHBIT ABRILE
HIERTESERNBZEZET -BEREETA
EVE=Z4HE BELVE—S2HREABILIER
TEF -RRELERTR ARRBEZZESES
MBS B AET EHRAFEI2ME  ARR
EHIB N ETIBR B E202552828H » AT
BRI BRLTABIIERTES AILENE

—nAs

SFEE3211%

REE2024F 1283 B LIEFEE  BZEE G BT
MRS SHEHEESZEES RN ES
FIEnT

Audit
Committee
meeting
attended/
Eligible to
attend
HE
SERHERN
BERZEEY
SR E
Dr. Lin Tat Pang (Chairman) (appointed as Chairman of EERSE L (FE) (722025825 28H
audit committee on 28 February 2025) BEIFREEZEZEEFE) 4/4
Mr. Ng Kwun Wan (Chairman) REELEE (F/E)
(resigned on 2 December 2024) (BR20244F 1252 A ¥ (E) 4/4
Dr. Tang Dajie HANE LT 4/4
Ms. Liu Zhen (appointed on 28 Februray 2025) R+ (FR2025F2/528H EZ1E) 0/0

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

Annual Report 2024 R



Corporate Governance Report
TEER/RMS

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has set up the Remuneration Committee on 23
June 2017 with written terms of reference of no less exacting
terms those set out in the CG Code. The primary functions of the
Remuneration Committee include determining/reviewing and
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management,
the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and
senior management; and establishing transparent procedures for
developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that
no Director or any of his associates will participate in deciding his
own remuneration.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior

management are set out in the sections headed “Directors’

Remuneration” and “Remuneration of the Senior Management” in
this annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, three Remuneration
Committee meetings were held. The attendance record of each
member of the Remuneration Committee is as follows:

#HINEEE

AT BER2017FE6823H R FMEE S WET
ERBHREEEATHNERNE@BEEE-
FNEESTERSEEET, IR ENNTE
EROHREBAENFTNEE 2BESROM
EEENFNEREREEIM L EEREEE
IRHEZ ; UAR I GITIIEEFHBNBER R 2R EN
SEREERFURGHESERHIABEAS
HETHB B

EShEREEASNFHMTEFBHNEER
TERHM SR EEANSHISE -

REE2024F 12831 IEFE  FiNEE T B 2817
ZREE - BSHEHRFNEZE S EZNL B
TR -

Remuneration
Committee
meeting
attended/
Eligible to
attend

HE/
AERME
NiHMNEES
gHEHE

Dr. Lin Tat Pang (Chairman)

Mr. Wu Rui

Mr. Ng Kwun Wan (resigned on 2 December 2024)
Ms. Liu Zhen (appointed on 28 Februray 2025)
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has set up the Nomination Committee on 23 June
2017 with written terms of reference of no less exacting terms than
those set out in the CG Code.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating
relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment
of Directors, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of Directors, and assessing
the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board
diversity policy, including but not limited to skills, industry and
regional experience, background, race, gender and other qualities
etc. In forming its perspective on diversity, the Company will also
take into account factors based on its own business model and
specific needs from time to time. The Nomination Committee would
discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity
on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board
for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s character,
qualifications, experience, independence and other relevant criteria
necessary to complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board
diversity, where appropriate, before making recommendation to the
Board.

At present, there are 9 members in the Board of the Company,
including 9 male directors. All directors possess university or above
educational level whereas some possess professional qualifications
in accountancy, chartered secretary and laws etc., and have
ample experiences of giant enterprise management, financial
management, legal and human resources etc. in different fields.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, two Nomination REIZE2024F 12831 HILEE REEEE B LT
Committee meetings were held. The attendance record of each MAGiZF - JSHNEHFBIRRLREESTEEZMILHER

member of the Nomination Committee is as follows:

HIEE -

Nomination

Committee
meeting
attended/
Eligible to
attend
HE
SERUE
HNiRBRZEEE
gEHE

Dr. Tang Dajie (Chairman) (appointed as Chairman of BANE L (FE) (7220248 1252H
nomination committee on 2 December 2024) BEIRBIELEEEFE) 2/2
Dr. Ho Chun Kit Gregory (EEHIE 0/2
Mr. Ng Kwun Wan (resigned on 2 December 2024) RRBIE (FR2024F 1252 H FEE) 2/2
Dr. Lin Tat Pang EHEMREL 2/2
Ms. Liu Zhen (appointed on 28 Februray 2025) R+ (R2025F2/528H EZ(F) 0/0

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

EEXERR

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the EBEHEZABSHTEH N EHEEATRSTEMEA

code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

YRR BE

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board had reviewed W& ZE2024F 12831 HILEE  EEFERATEA
the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, BIRNCEEABRRERER EEREREEEN
training and continuous professional development of Directors IEZFIFIFEEELRE - KA T BT ARKREEIR
and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on  EMHEKEIR - EE R EREEETIZESTH
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance  RUIEN s U R A AT BT 2B ASTHMNBE R K
of the Model Code by Directors and relevant employees, and the — ZA{PEEARENINEARNS ©

Company's compliance with the CG Code and disclosures in this

Corporate Governance Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Board has the overall responsibility for
evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks it
is willing to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives,
and establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems.

The Group has established a risk management policy which sets out
the process of identification, evaluation and management of the
principal risks affecting the business.

1. Each division is responsible for identifying and assessing
principal risks within its divisions on a quarterly basis and
establishing mitigation plans to manage the risks identified.

2. The management is responsible for overseeing the Group's
risk management and internal control activities, attending
quarterly meetings with each division to ensure principal
risks are properly managed, and new or changing risks are
identified and documented.

3. The Board is responsible for reviewing and approving the
effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems.

The Group has maintained internal control guidance and procedures
on the Group's operational cycles relating to revenue, purchase and
expenditure, inventory and human resources etc,, to ensure proper
accounting records are kept so that reliable financial reporting can
be provided, the effectiveness and efficiency of operation can be
achieved, and the compliance with applicable laws and regulations
and safeguarding of assets can be maintained. These procedures,
together with the Company’s compliance manual, have also shaped
the control environment in which and how the Group operates,
including the budgeting controls, investment decision making, risk
assessment and practices of corporate governance. These systems
are designed to provide reasonable protection against errors, losses
and fraud.
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The Company does not establish a standalone internal audit
department. However, the Board has put in place adequate
measures to perform the internal audit function at different aspects
of the Group.

The Company has engaged ZHONGHUI ANDA Risk Services
Limited to conduct a review on the effectiveness of the internal
controls of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.
The review covered certain operational procedures and included
recommendations for improving and strengthening the internal
control system. No significant area of concern that may affect the
financial, operational, compliance, control and risk management of
the Group has been identified.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Group and is satisfied that the Group
has complied with the Code in respect of internal control during the
year.

Regular meetings were held between the executive Directors
and senior management to review and monitor the business
and financial performance against the targets, the progress of
certification and contract receipts from the customers, the efficiency
in the use of the Group's resources in comparison to the budgets,
and the operational matters to ensure the Group has complied with
the regulations that have material impact to the Group's business.
The aim is to enhance the communication and accountability of the
Directors and management so that significant strategic, financial,
operational and compliance risks or potential deviations are timely
identified and dealt with in proper manner, which significant issues
are reported back to the Board for their attention.

With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside information,
the Group has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Group's Directors, officers, senior management
and relevant employees in handling confidential information,
monitoring information disclosure and responding to enquires.
While any potential inside information will be escalated to the
executive meetings or the Board via the established reporting
channels, the Directors will assess and determine if the inside
information of the Group exist where timely disclosure is required
to be made by way of an announcement published on the Stock
Exchange website. Control procedures have been implemented to
ensure that unauthorised access and use of inside information are
strictly prohibited.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted its dividend policy and the declaration and
recommendation of dividends are subject to the decision of the
Board after considering the Company’s ability to pay dividends. The
Board may, as it deems appropriate, determine and distribute an
interim dividend to shareholders of the Company from time to time.
The Board may recommend the payment of an annual dividend,
subject to the approval by shareholders of the Company at annual
general meetings.

The Company's dividend policy is to allow shareholders to share
the Company’s profits whist preserving adequate reserves for
the Company’s future development. Subject to the approval of
shareholders and requirement of relevant laws, if the Group makes
a profit, the operating environment remains stable and the Group
has no plans for material investment or capital contribution, the
Company shall pay annual dividends to its shareholders. The Board
may, from time to time, pay to the shareholders such interim
dividends as the Directors deem reasonable to the profit of the
Group. Moreover, the Board may, where considered appropriate,
declare special dividends.

Considerations:

In deciding or proposing the number of distribution and the
amount and form of dividend for any financial year/period, the
Board shall consider the following factors:

(a) the Company's actual and expected financial performance;

(b) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and respective members of the Group;

(@) the debt-to-equity ratio, rate of return on equity and
relevant financial covenants of the Group;

(d) any restrictions imposed by the lenders of the Group in
terms of dividend payment;

(e) the Group's expected working capital requirements and
future expansion plans;

(f) the Group's general economic conditions, business cycle
of the Group's business and other internal and external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial

performance and position of the Company; and

(9) any other factors the Board may consider appropriate.
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The dividend payout ratio will vary from year to year. There is no
assurance that a dividend will be declared in any particular amount
for any given period.

FORM OF DIVIDEND

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company,
dividend may be paid in cash. The Board may consider bonus
issue, and its relevant basis must comply with applicable laws and
regulations.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ emoluments are determined with reference to Directors’
duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group. In addition, the Directors’ remuneration is reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee of the Company annually. Details of the
Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

REMUNERATION OF THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration of
senior management is listed below by band:

Band of remuneration

FoNEEE

KBRS ERR BAFRER S AERIEEHHE
SIRERFESENRS

RERRX
BRBAAINEGERMER RETURER
ff- BEGE EEBTAR HAAMEELETS
ERERRER

EEH
EEWE D RBEENRE  RERRRURE
EENLERT I EEFHSEEFADFH

MEZE TR - ARESEHMOVF RN IRERHM
BIRRMIEEo

SR EIE A EEEN
REE2024F 12831 HIEFEE 8RB AENH
A EE I

Number of Person

AR

HK$ 1,000,000 or below
1,000,000 T2 AT

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
1,000,00178 75 & 1,500,00078 75

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the remunerations paid or
payable to ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited in respect of its audit
services of HK$1,800,000.
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DIRECTORS' AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 which
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group. In
preparing the Financial Statements which give a true and fair view, it
is fundamental that the appropriate accounting policies are selected
and applied consistently. The statement of the external auditor of
the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the Financial
Statements is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on
pages 78 to 83 of this annual report. The Directors were not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which
may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company's company secretary, Mr. Fu Wing Kwok Ewing,
coordinates the supply of information to the Directors and is the
primary contract person within the Company for all matters relating
to the duties and responsibilities of the company secretary. All
Directors have access to company secretary to ensure that Board
procedures and all applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed. During the year ended 31 December 2024, he had taken
not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training as required
under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. For details of his biography,
please refer to the section headed “Biographies of Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

We seriously take care of the shareholders’ interest to ensure that
they are treated fairly and are able to exercise their shareholders’
rights effectively. Shareholders are entitled by the Articles of
Association and are also encouraged to participate in the Company’s
general meetings or appoint proxies to attend meetings and may
request the Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting and
put forward proposals. Such requisition should be made in writing
to the Board or the company secretary for such purpose and should
specify the objects of the meeting.
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The Board is not aware of any provisions allowing the shareholders
of the Company to put forward proposals at general meetings of
the Company under the Articles of Association and the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands. Shareholders who wish to put forward
proposals at general meetings may refer to the preceding paragraph
to make written requisition to require the convening of an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

In case a shareholder wishes to nominate a person for election as
director in general meeting, the particulars of the candidate must
be stated in a nomination notice signed and deposited together
with a notice of willingness signed by the candidate to the company
secretary at the Company principal place of business (Room Nos.
808-814, 8th Floor, Sun Hung Kai Centre, 30 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong) or at the Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer
office of the Company. The notice should be given at least seven
days prior to the date of such general meeting.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining effective and timely
dissemination of the Group’s information to its shareholders and
the market. The annual shareholders’ meetings of the Company
are the primary forum for communication by the Company with
its shareholders and for shareholder participation. At the annual
general meeting of the Company, the Directors (or their delegates
as appropriate) are available to meet shareholders and answer
their enquires. In addition, the Company’s website (http://www.
ctvision994.com) contains extensive company information which is
easily accessible.

The Board has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy, which
sets out the objective and approach to ensuring communication
transparent, accurate and open communications with the
shareholders. The policy aims to maintain an on-going dialogue
with shareholders and the investment community, which will be
regularly reviewed by the Board to ensure its effectiveness and to
reflect current best practices in communications with shareholders.
During the Reporting Period, the Board has reviewed the
shareholders’ communication policy and confirmed that it has been
effectively implemented.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

No amendment was made to the constitutional documents of the
Company during the Reporting Period.

ENQUIRES TO THE BOARD

Enquiries may put to the Board through the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong at Room Nos. 808-814, 8th Floor,
Sun Hung Kai Centre, 30 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong (email:
info@ctvision994.com).
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is pleased to present its Environmental, Social and Governance
(hereinafter called "ESG") report of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2024 (the "Year 2024"), with an aim to provide details of the
system establishment and performance of the Group in respect
of sustainable development to both the internal and external
stakeholders.

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of its
business, as well as providing support to environmental protection
and the communities in which it operates. Quality accommodation
services are delivered to customers by the Group, and its business
is managed prudently under sound decision-making processes. The
Group seeks to balance the views and interests of the stakeholders
through constructive conversation with a purpose to set the course
for long-term prosperity. The Board is responsible for evaluating
and determining the ESG risks of the Group, and ensuring that
relevant risk management and internal control systems are in place
and operate effectively. The Group has assigned a responsible
person (the “ESG Responsible Person”) to review and evaluate the
corporate performance on the relevant ESG issues.

COMPANY PROFILE

The principal activities of the Group are (i) renewable energy
business; (ii) e-commerce business; and (iii) others which mainly
include building information modelling services.

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

This report was prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities made by of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”), highlighted the environmental and
social measures and activities of the Group during the Year 2024.
Corporate governance is addressed separately in the Corporate
Governance Report.
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GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
Board'’s oversight of ESG issues

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board") has a primary
role in overseeing the Group's ESG issues. During the Year 2024,
the Board, the management and the ESG Responsible Person
evaluate the impacts of ESG-related risks towards the operation and
formulate ESG-related policies in dealing with relevant risks. The
oversight of the Board ensures that the management and the ESG
Responsible Person can have all the right tools and resources to
oversee the ESG issues.

To demonstrate the Group's commitment to transparency and
accountability, the management and ESG Responsible Person review
and evaluate the Group's performance in respect of ESG issues and
report to the Board regularly.

Board’s ESG management approach and strategy for material
ESG-related issues

To better understand the opinions and expectations of different
stakeholders on the ESG issues, materiality assessment is conducted
annually. The Group ensures various platforms, and channels of
communication are used to reach, listen and respond to its key
stakeholders. Through communication with the stakeholders, the
Group is able to understand the expectations and concerns from
its stakeholders. The feedbacks obtained allow the Group to make
more informed decisions, and to better assess and manage the
resulting impacts of the business decisions.

The Group has evaluated the materiality in ESG aspects through
the following steps: (i) identification of ESG issues by the Group; (i)
key ESG areas prioritisation with stakeholder engagement; and (iii)
validation and determining material ESG issues based on the results
of communication with the stakeholders.
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Taking these steps enhances the understanding of the expectations
and concerns of the Group's stakeholders on various ESG issues,
which enable the Board to plan the sustainable development
direction to address material ESG-related issues in the future.

Board review progress against ESG-related goals and targets

The Group will closely review from time to time for the performance
and implementation progress of the goals and targets. If the
progress falls short of expectation or changes of business
operations, it may be necessary to make changes and communicate
about the goals and targets with key stakeholders such as
employees, customers and suppliers.

The Board has set strategic goals to enable the Group to develop a
realistic path and focus on the development direction for achieving
its vision. The Board will carefully examine the attainability of the
targets which should be weighed against the Group’s philosophy
and goals.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

Materiality: Stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment
were conducted regularly to identify material ESG issues, and to
ensure that these issues are addressed in this report.

Quantitative: Data presented in this report have been collected
prudently. Please refer to the environmental and social performance
data for standards and methodologies used for calculation of key
performance indicators.

Balance: Both positive and negative sides of the performance have
been presented in a transparent manner.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the disclosures, data

collection and calculation methods have remained consistent
throughout the years to facilitate comparability over time.
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REPORTING BOUNDARIES

The scope of this ESG report mainly includes policies, data and
activities of the office in Hong Kong (the "Hong Kong Office”) and
the offices located in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") (the
“PRC Offices”) during the Year 2024. Unless otherwise specified, the
disclosed environmental and social Key Performance Indicators (the
"KPIs") covers Hong Kong Office and PRC Offices in relation to four
environmental aspects and eight social aspects:

The Group will continue to review the reporting boundaries in the
future, and extend the report coverage based on the following
criteria:

significance of revenue against the respective financial year;

potential ESG impact;

geographical location; and

associated new legislation requirements, if any.

The Board has reviewed and approved this ESG report.
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STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group values the views and opinions of the stakeholders and
recognise the importance of their input to the Group's sustainable

development.

The Group’s key stakeholders include government and regulatory
bodies, shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers or
subcontractors and community. The Group has conducted a survey,
discussed or communicated with stakeholders to understand their
views and respond to their needs and expectations, evaluated and
prioritised their inputs to improve the Group's performance, and

finally strived to provide value to the stakeholders.

Stakeholders
Fin&E

Expectations and requirements

HASE B E R

FHRESH

FEBERFNVENRERER  RRAREZE
RATERNIFEERZEE

FEENETERNELRBIAAEERB R
R B RBE-HEBISCBRME -AEE
BRFMNEETHEESHE SIme
ENRMnOEERERNE  sHERIIIES
RREFERRFEZERNERR T TRER
B EREEE.

B LT R

Communication and response

838 K [o] FE

Government and regulatory bodies

BT R BB s

Shareholders

AR ER

Customers

ZR
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Operating in compliance with the law
Tax payment in accordance with the
laws

HROERE

RIE IR

Implementation of corporate
governance and create value
Information disclosure

BTEXERTRIGEE
EEME

Fulfilling contracts within the law
High-quality services

RIEBH
BERS

Law-abiding operations
Tax payment on time and in full

I,
SFARE

2 Ry B BUR

Optimising internal control and risk
management

Releasing operating data in due
course
BB & AR EIE

B % 1 & E R

Timely completion of the works as set
out in works order

Adopting I1SO 9001:2015 certification
RS TI2sT BB e T2
FRARISO 9001:201558 35
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Stakeholders

Expectations and requirements

Communication and response

HinE HZEREKR 838 K [ FE

Employees Career development platform Transparent promotion channel
Remuneration and benefits Competitive remuneration package
Occupational health and safety Implementation of health and safety

management system

== - FEEZETA BZEHENSARE
# N B2 @ F BB IFMNEE
BERRKRZE BMEREREZEEERR

Suppliers or subcontractors

Receiving payment on time
Business ethics and credit standing

Timely payment schedule
Fulfilment of obligations under any
contract in accordance with laws

HEEES D EH &ﬁw IENEA e b5 < R B ) 22
FEERREE KEBITTENERT
Community Improving the environment of Participation in charitable activities
communities Adhere to green operations
-+ Protecting the nature
He - RAMEIRIR BHEEEEE
REBNR BTERBEE

MATERIALITY MATRIX

In Year 2024, the Group carried out materiality assessment on a
number of ESG issues in order to identify which issues were crucial
to the Group's business and were of the utmost concerned by
stakeholders. It helps the Group to ensure its business development
meeting the expectations and requirements of stakeholders.
The Group has identified 24 ESG issues covering environmental,
social and operation, and has invited both internal and external
stakeholders to assess the materiality of the ESG issues through a
scoring tool and interviews. The Group's management has reviewed
the ranking of materiality of the ESG issues and then disclosed the
result in this report. The results of materiality assessment prioritised
stakeholder inputs and made the Group focused on the material
aspects for actions, achievements and reporting.

FR04FEE  AEBHZIERIE - HEREAEE
ETEENTG UHNEAEEEBRREER
FHERBAINSEE ZIEEhAEERRE
EBRERENEFNENHEREKR - KEBBEH
BIJHd24IE,T%faiﬁ HEREENRIE - HERE
AEIE TEGEAS RN FREERTPTA
&@ﬂ»ﬁaémm_ﬁﬁ&a;$EME M
ﬁﬁ@i$$léﬁﬁaﬁﬁﬁﬁhﬁmﬁﬁ&a
ASEENEEMRR MR ARERNIFELER S
E&ﬁ%mm BEEHFMENERETHR &
NEBETE W RER - SHATIEEMNE

tfo
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The Group's materiality matrix of ESG issues in Year 2024

High

ot

o

I

QUEEREFRBE - HEREAFZTESE

ESG ISSUES MATERIALITY MATRIX
R HEREABRERMER

e

©

1720

16 | 24
2123

RELEVANCE/MATERIALITY TO STAKEHOLDERS
B E RN/ B ENEEY

Environmental issues

2 3 4 5 6

7

RELEVANCE/MATERIALITY TO BUSINESS
EEBNRRY/ HEBNEEMS

Social issues

=
a
Ex

Tt

Operation issues

IRIREIR HEEE SEEIR
1. Greenhouse gas emissions 10. Child labour 19. Customer service and satisfaction
1. RERBHK 10, ET 19. BRRBRREE
2. Energy consumption and resource  11. Forced and compulsory labour 20. Customer privacy
management
2. BEREERERE 11. 5838 K 58 Hl %5 & 20. ER LR
3. Water resources management 12. Training and development 21. Feedback and complaint handling
3. KERERE 12, 1Ball 3 R 21 REBRIRIFEE
4. Waste management 13. Salaries and employee benefits 22. Product safety and quality
4. BEYERE 13. B R EEER N ERZERER

Annual Report 2024 &R
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Environmental issues

IRIREIR

Social issues

HEEE

Operation issues
SESE

Use of packaging materials

BEMKBIER

Impact on the environment

RIBERE

Climate change
AR

8. Community contribution

8. HMEEE

Occupational health and safety

BERERZE

EMISSIONS

The Group recognises that environmental protection is one of the

great social concern matters.

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

14. Diversity and equal opportunity
14. 2Rk TEHKE

15. Talent attraction and retention

15, IR B AT

16. Anti-corruption
6. RES

17. Supply chain management

17 HEREE

18. Supplier evaluation and selection

18, BRI L R ERE

HERH)

FEERRREREDTEMEINERFTEZ

—o0

23. Intellectual property protection

23. M ERRIRE

24. Marketing and labeling
24 BIHRIRE
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For dust control, the Group regularly sprays water on unpaved roads
and exposed or loose soils surfaces to suppress dust emissions.
Vehicles would also go through wheel washing facilities before
leaving the sites to remove any dusty materials.

During the Year 2024, air emission for nitrogen oxides (“NOx"),
sulphur oxides (“SOx") and particulate matter (“PM") were mainly
generated from the combustion sources of motor vehicles of the
Group. The table below shows the key environmental performance
indicators of different types of air emissions emitted by the Group's
operation during the Year 2024.

MEEEIET > AL B E R R #H R A E R &
,J\Eg‘JZm%&B’\JiigiEUEK BUR KD EEHF K - B2
B TE BERT T3 A1 R ST BB S AR I 0 AR BRAE A
5 EEERBIKL o

F20245 E > RAEY (REEY) HRELED
(M| ™)) ReFF (MRFHF1) IR
FREZRFBNEEBERIMER TRIITR
2024 F EAREEEBRTHIMB SRR R BER AR
BIRIRAEM ISR

Unit Year 2024 Year 2023

Air emissions” ERBER™ B 2024FE 2023FE

NOx emissions Fa=R k71 kg 3.62 7.05
T

SOx emissions meEtmHER kg 0.11 0.16
T

PM emissions SEE N T HER kg 0.27 0.52
T

Note: M -

1. The emission factors used to calculate the NOx, SOx and PM 1. BRstESa Sty ME Y BB FNFIEE

are sourced from: (i) the Hong Kong Environmental Protection
Department’s EMFAC-HK Vehicle Emission Calculation model; and (ii)
the United States Environmental Protection Agency's Vehicle Emission
Modeling Software — MOBILE6.1 and based on the assumption of 80%
relative humidity, a temperature of 25 degrees Celsius, an average
speed of 30kmh, and include running exhaust emissions only.

MEEBKBR (()EBIRIBREEEMFAC-HKE &Y
BT ERE ; R()EEIRBERESNEMGE
POEE B —MOBILE6. ; I B IRBEHREA
80% SREA2SIBKE ) FHEREA0AER /)
B EBRBRETPINERI R
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Greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions refer to the sum of carbon
dioxide (“CO2") emissions and the CO2 equivalent emissions of
methane (“CH4") and nitrous oxide (“N20"). GHG emissions are
categorised into direct emissions and indirect emissions.

The main sources of direct GHG emissions from operations are the
use of motor vehicles owned or controlled by the Group. The main
sources of indirect GHG emissions from operations are the use of
purchased electricity, paper waste disposed at landfills, electricity
used for processing fresh water by government departments.

Target of air emissions intensity

nERE (TRERRE) 2 8k (Z8
Efix)) HEE KRR (MR MAtnga (TRt
BRI N -—SEREESRENRN - BERE
By 7 ER B BEHE R

%Eﬁﬁ%iE@E?ﬁﬂ?ﬂﬁamﬁﬂliﬁkfﬁﬁﬁﬁ
FEEHEANEANER BEMELNBZER
EREFREBREAERINEESN HEHER
EREE R R B BEPIRR IR KPR A AT o

BERFRMEERR

Environmental KPI Reduction Target Baseline Year Status
IRIRRA BB RUEIR kB AR BEEE Ak 2&
Air emissions

BE R e

NOx intensity Reduce 3% by Year 2025 Year 2020 In progress
AR YBE 122025 E ARV 3% 20205F & T
SOx intensity Reduce 3% by Year 2025 Year 2020 In progress
metyBE 120256 R0 R 3% 20206 F #EiTH
PM intensity Reduce 3% by Year 2025 Year 2020 In progress
AN FRE 122025 E ATV 3% 20205F & T
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The table below shows the key environmental performance TFREAT04EEAEEEEMESLRERER
indicators of GHG emissions emitted by the Group's operation  FFIRASBIZIZENIEIZ
during the Year 2024.
Unit Year 2024 Year 2023@
GHG emissions BEREHRE BB {i 20245 E 2023F E?
Total GHG emissions BERBESERE kg COse 36,694 52,399
Fr-@tiRES
GHG emissions intensity (per employee) EEREBHHNERE kg COze 1,835 2,183
(B4EE) FrZabREE
Direct emissions due to combustion of BB AR B KR A kg COze 19,748 29,587
fuels in mobile sources (Scope 1) EXNEEIER 2 TRIS(EHRES
(88E1)
Indirect emissions due to consumption of SHiEINEE HELM kg COze 16,230 21,078
purchased electricity (Scope 2)® EEHEW (#@E2)) TR-_SEREE
Other indirect emissions due to paper HIEEREER KRR kg COze 716 1,734

waste disposed at landfills, electricity

BROKFTREIE

Tr_SEREE

used for processing fresh water (Scope 3) 4 BYELfthRIIZHE R
o (EEBS3)

Notes

1. The emission factors of electricity consumed are sourced from Hong

Kong Electric Sustainability Report 2023, the East China and Southern
China Power Grid in 2022.

2. The figures are calculated in accordance with the “Reporting Guidance
on Environmental KPIs". The figure is restated in the Year 2023 as the
emission factor used for the calculation of CO2e associated with
electricity purchased in East China and Southern China are changed
to be in line with the calculation of the figure in the Year 2024.

Annual Report 2024 &R
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1. BEEIENRREEERRBE20BENFELER
EONEREPRTEEHSEM-

2. BEILREMRABEEENIERRSEIES G
Bo-mARNARAERERREREERRANC
SR EENBINEFHIRES) » M2023FE 8
BB DEEIN AT E2024FEENHBEFES
o
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Target of GHG emissions intensity

AEREHFREZEEER

Environmental KPI Reduction Target Baseline Year Status
IRI5 R SR A RIS IR B R BEF ik BE
GHG emissions intensity (Scope 1) Reduce 3% by Year 2025 Year 2020 In progress
BERBBIRZE (8E1) 1220255 B AR 3% 20205 & #EiTH
GHG emissions intensity (Scope 2) Reduce 3% by Year 2025 Year 2020 In progress
BEREBHREE (52) 1220254 AR 3% 20205F & T
GHG emissions intensity (Scope 3) Reduce 3% by Year 2025 Year 2020 In progress
BERBBIRZE (853) 1220255 B AR 3% 20205 & EiTH

The Group takes proactive measures for environmental protection,
and manage waste on site through the proper collection, storage,
transportation, disposal and treatment of wastes. To meet the waste
reduction goals, the Group formulates Waste Management Plans
for projects with clear guidance on the handling of different kinds
of waste. In addition, the Group takes measures to reduce waste
generation at source and systematically sort the wastes, followed by
the recovery of any reusable or recyclable parts such as metal parts
from temporary works, as well as paper packaging from general
refuse.

The Group promotes switching off lighting and air-conditioning one

hour during lunchtime and using timer to control on/off for office
electrical appliance to reduce energy consumptions.

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

AEBBERBGBEMFREREREETHER
Y nABRERERE -HTF B RERRE
Ry ~EIREER AEELEBHIEIEY
BEFE BRHNAEEFFREENERYRA
FE3ES | o IS » A & B EREFE HR L TR BRI RS e iy g
RYMBERRDE WEWEA I BAKAERED
W R > GIIN{EER R TRE2EIWHNE B M > LUk
RE—ARUBRAVRE B

AEBREN FRERERIRBER R EHRN—
B WA A SR B IE R A E B AVRIRAE - L
RIEBETRFES ©
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The table below shows the key environmental performance
indicators of waste produced by the Group's operation during the
Year 2024.

TREMUFEAERZSEFMELEREEYE
EIRIB A MIGIZ

Unit Year 2024 Year 2023
Waste EEEY) BB {1 20245 [E 2023FE
Total non-hazardous waste produced FMESBREREREYES tonnes N/A® N/A
i RERAM A
Non-hazardous waste produced intensity FTELEEEZEYZEE tonnes/number of N/A™ N/A
employee RERAM NERE

Mg, BB A
Total hazardous waste produced FMESBEEREYES tonnes N/A N/A
MR EHA A
Hazardous waste produced intensity FRELEBEZBEEYEE tonnes/number of N/A N/A
employee REHA A

e, BB A

Note B 5

1. The non-hazardous waste produced by the Group is minimal and
hence no relevant data is collected.

Target of non-hazardous waste produced intensity

L AERELANEZTERYRD BT EWER
BB -

FREEBEREEMEERR

Environmental KPI Reduction Target Baseline Year Status
IRIG R B A RUEIR kB AR BEF K A&
Non-hazardous waste produced intensity Reduce 3% by Year 2025 Year 2020 In progress
FREEEERRYTE FL20255F AR 3% 20205 HEITH
Hazardous waste produced intensity Maintain minimal generation N/A N/A
PRELBEEREYEE ERRVELE B & A

The Group strictly regulates the operation of its business to ensure
the compliance with national and local laws and regulations
relating to environmental protection and pollutant emissions. In
Year 2024, there was no case of material non-compliance with the
Environmental Protection Law of the PRC (FFZE AR EMEIRIE
{R&7%) and other relevant laws and regulations relating to air and
GHG emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste and noise that have a
significant impact on environment. In addition, there was no report
of significant fines or sanctions as a result of non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations in Year 2024.

AEBEBEREBHERSE  UWRFRETHERIR
IR IR E R /5 N HE Y B X R 3t 75 oA 1R R oA HR o
R204FE  AEETEBSERBRRERAR
EREHM MR TR R HIRIEAEE AR
FENAEERBEEEEYURRENFEARL
ﬁ!mﬁﬁ&i&ﬁ@@%&é&&ﬁ%mﬂo
LtE9h > FR20244F [ > Wt R 75 1 (K2 R ABRA A R Aok
HMEREAIRLHIHBIFRE -
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USE OF RESOURCES

The Group recognises that efficient use of resources is one of the
significant aspects to protect environment.

During the Year 2024, the Group has not experienced any difficulty
in sourcing water that is fit for the usage of the Group. The Group
strives to conserve resources in its operations. Different resource-
saving measures are implemented during the various stages
of construction to conserve energy, water, paper and other
office supplies. The measures taken range from improvement
in equipment efficiency, reuse and recycling of materials, to the
behavioural change of the people.

The Group also implements green office practices at Hong Kong
Office and PRC Offices with examples like:

replacing T5 light tubes with LED lights;

selecting computers with “Energy Star” logo;

encouraging employees to turn off or unplug any electrical
appliances that are not in use, such as light, computer or

chargers; and

encouraging duplex printing in offices.

Energy saving signs remind staff members to turn off
the lights after using in order to promote energy conservation.

SREGETAEIR S5 IR IR B T AR BB LUEBNEIAE
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BHIRfER

FEERASBHUEREREFRERENEZER
Z—o

12024 E > AEENERBE AEBEERRIK
IR 75 TH 3 4% [ B AE frT R 3 o 2&%@¢&27‘]?‘ EB
RPHNER WAETRE LERERSEMLN
BiRE LUREBER 7K )ﬂn&}i’zﬂf’m?ﬂ#’&%
o e FTEREXAVIE T B IR IR S R B A ERKRIEIR
[EIWAA DU R B T BT 75 ©

AEBTNREBMERXTEMEEEFG O
RNEER I

RTSHEFHRALEDIE |
ERERIFERZ 25 ER
SEEEREZERIEES (HIIEA
fiEr7EEE8s) MR IGRER ; &

BRI AEABLEITE

Notice of Printing and photocopying control
for paper saving.

SRASTIEN R ENE RIBAI LA A AR
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The below table shows the key environmental performance TFREAT204EEAEERE REANRBIRIEE

indicators of the Group's use of resources during the Year 2024. RVEiEt R
Unit Year 2024 Year 2023
Total use of resources BRERES B[ 2024F & 2023FE
Electricity purchases for consumption SNEEIHFEE kWh 28,710 37,704
TR
Petrol consumption FSHIHFED kWh 71,953 107,800
T EE
Total energy consumption BERUHAER S kWh 100,663 145,504
FREF
Total energy consumption intensity MEFEETE kWh 5,033 6,063
(per employee) (B4EE) F R B
Water consumption FEKE m? 74 100
75K
Water consumption intensity BAKEE (B2ES) m’ 4 4
(per employee) K
Packaging material used for finished SR GRPT B B MK Kg N/A N/A
products @ AEY F RiE B
Packaging material intensity (per unit SBEEBUNSEMR Kg N/A N/A
produced) @ BHEO F= TEB NERE
Notes: BT 5T
1. The conversion factor used to convert data in other units to kWh is 1. AREEMBATRNEERERS T RENEIR
sourced from the Energy Statistics Manual issued by the International AFTHR BB REZEMIEERAST T
Energy Agency.

2 The packaging material used for products or services provided by the 2. KEBIRMBNERIREPTESEM R

Group is minimal and hence no relevant data is disclosed. 5 3 e 37 B AR A B ©

Target of energy and water consumption intensity FERERFEKEERRE

Environmental KPI Reduction Target Baseline Year Status
IRIF AR A RIS Ak B AR BEEF N
Energy consumption intensity Reduce 3% by Year 2025 Year 2020 In progress
FERREE 1220256 AR 3% 20205 & T
Water consumption intensity Reduce 3% by Year 2025 Year 2020 In progress
FEXKBE FL2025%F FE AR 3% 2020 E ETH
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Regarding measures to mitigate emissions, the Group closely
monitors the level of resources consumption, GHG emissions and
wastes disposal of the Hong Kong Office and PRC Offices. The Group
is required to set its respective energy and carbon reduction targets
and come up with feasible measures to achieve them. The details
and results achieved are listed as follows:

Projects Details and results achieved

I5H EALES

WO D BERRERM S > AEERTERES
WE R PR EREREE REREBIK
T BEERY R B KT - R E B AR E AR FERY BT AE R
WER TR ATHEEUBRZEFE R 1B K
RUSRFITRAT -

Multi-function devices

The multi-function devices with printing, scanning and photocopying have been extensively

adopted. Employees are advised to switch on the devices only when use and switch off after

office hours, which have reduced electricity consumption.

Motor vehicles

BEZRBEITE - RBHRETZHNNZIY
R R ERA R LUV FEEE

fERFE-EBRESEETEAKAE LEFHA

Motor vehicles are restricted to serve for senior management to attend business meetings and

to be used by important clients or business partners.

_E AEERSHEEBLEBFEERERETPAEBBHER -

THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL
RESOURCES

The Group understands that its performance in respect of emissions,
waste produced, and use of resources impacts the environment,
the Group endeavours to minimise such impacts, and communicate
the Group's environmental policy, measures, performance, and
achievements to the stakeholders.

The Group is committed to reducing the operation impacts on
environment and natural resources. Series of guidelines are issued to
the workforce (in-house workforce as well as subcontractors) on air
pollution, water pollution, noise control and waste management at
works.

CLIMATE CHANGE

Awareness over climate change continues to grow and is one of
the most discussed topics among companies. The Group is no
exception, having increasing concerns over the potential impact
from climate change on the Group's business and operation. The
Group regularly reviews global and local government policies,
regulatory updates and market trends to identify potential climate
related risks which may have impact on the Group's business
operation.

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

RIBRRAR IR

AEEBFREEHIY FRELEBERYKRERRE
BRrENXREEHREBAEE HEEBRNS
REBTERERE ERFNHEREFSEERN
RIBICR 1816~ RITR AL

FEERNRBEEEHRBERRARERNEE
HFPERER REMEERDBH) EMmARMIRE
BZERSR KGR BREEFRERYEEN—
RH RIS -

RIREL

ARRHRIEZEHNERATEHRS  RIEELTR
AEERERSNEEZ —  REBTAHIS
Hmf RS2 R AEREB R EENEER
B - AEEENSRAEIEM S BFER BEEE
WMhmHEE UHA T EAEREBEE
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There are two major categories of climate-related risks, physical
and transition risks. The Group will immediately develop a response
plan such as changing the business strategy and modifying the
development plan in order to reduce the negative impacts of such
climate-related risks.

The Group will continuously incorporate sustainable practices in its
business operations and prepare and maintain sufficient resources
for managing identified climate-related risks and studying the
potential remediation measures.

During the Year 2024, there is no climate-related risk, including
physical and transitional risks, which has significant impact to the
Group.

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

The Group recognises the significance of talent management
in achieving long-term business growth. In managing the
talents, the Group upholds the principles of fairness and market
competitiveness, as well as rewards on high performances.

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and oppose any form
of discrimination in the hiring process. Employment opportunities
and treatment of employees are not affected by personal attributes
like race, religion, nationality, age or gender. The Group also strictly
prohibits any act of sexual harassment.

The Group provides competitive remuneration packages to staff.
Employees who have completed the probation period are entitled
to medical insurance as well as bonuses and allowances. The Group
has set reasonable working hours, rest periods, and different types of
leave including annual, maternity and examination leave, to further
cater to the personal needs of employees.

The Group conducts annual remuneration review of employees
based on their performance. As per the policy on promotion, the
Group prioritises internal promotion and would only seek to hire
through open recruitment when internal promotion is not suitable.

All human resources policies are communicated through the
employee handbook and other communication channels such as
bulletin postings or emails, to ensure all staff members are well
aware of their rights and responsibilities.
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The workforce compositions of the Hong Kong Office and PRC  FR2024512831H » HERMEE R EMHEENE

Offices as of 31 December 2024 are stated as follows: BAEGHEINUT -

BABENE S8 Year 2024 Year 2023
Employee Statistics by different categories EBESRAHF 20245 E 20235 E
Total number of staff in head offices WM ERE TR 20 24
By gender R
- Male — 5% 13 11
- Female -t 7 13
By age BEHe
- Aged under 30 —30BE AT - 6
— Aged 30-50 —30&508% 14 13
- Aged over 50 —505% A £ 6 5
By employment categories HEELE
— Senior level — =4
- Middle level —Hh4R 7
— Entry level — R 8 16
By geographical region #it&e
- Hong Kong a8 4
— China —HE 16 17

As of 31 December 2024, the Hong Kong Office and PRC Offices 7220248128310 » ERMBE KT EIIEFEF20
had 20 employees, of whom 100% were full-time employees with & EE > HEHVAEHLBES -
permanent employment term.
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During the year, the turnover rates of employees of the Hong Kong ~ FAER » A A48 R B D W E B SE B K& o0 E i

Office and PRC Offices by different categories are as follows: EENREMRKLLERNT ¢

BRI E 2B Year 2024 Year 2023
Employee turnover rate by different categories™ EE MK LEERD 20245 fE 20235
By gender g kill
Male B4 15% 44%
Female peglid 57% 31%
By age R
Under 30 years old 30 LR - 18%
30-50 years old 30E508% 43% 36%
Over 50 years old 50k A _E - 60%
By geographical region &
Hong Kong &5 100% 113%
PRC Y 13% -
Note: PIEE
1. The employee turnover rate is calculated based on the number of 1. {BERALERZNERNKRILEBENES AHKKG

employees who cease employment during the year divided by the MREAZBNNTEREEAMGE -

average number of employees during the year in each category.

In Year 2024, the Group was not aware of any material non- 204 FE > AEBWHEZIRHFEIEKR A BH M
compliance with the Employment Ordinance for Hong Kong Office  KfZ{E -1BERZF - TERFH -~ RHE - 514
and Labour Law of the PRC (FEAREMEEHNE) for PRC & 2 ob - RIEEEUREMFERENSEN
Offices relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and UBEER) E&EWRER R(PEARENEHS
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, — &53% ) (FEPHEER) ST ©

anti-discrimination, as well as other benefits and welfare.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

As the Group is primarily involved in renewable energy business
activities, occupational health and safety is one of the top priorities.
The Group has a Safety, Health and Environment policy in place to
ensure good health and safety of employees.

The Group has designated person in charge of safety issues to
better manage health and safety issues. The Group provides
monthly industry safety training and occupational risk assessments
to increase employees’ awareness and reduce the chance of work
accidents.

Depending on the nature of their work, workers are required to wear
appropriate personal protective equipment. No workers are allowed
to operate machineries or perform high-risk tasks such as working in
confined space or working with electrical appliances without strict
supervision and approval of supervisors.

The Group has informed workers about planned escape routes
in case of emergencies and have provided proper signage and
instruction for caution areas in the workplace. When employees
identify potential health and safety risks, they are required to
escalate the issues to management for follow-up actions.

During the Year 2024, there was no case of work-related injuries. In
response to the accident, the Group has taken appropriate remedial
action including training on renewable energy business safety for
the workers and putting up more safety posters and instructions at
the different areas of the site.

Work-related injuries I

BEEZZ

HRAEETESRBERRER TS BERE
REZENREANBIMZ — FAEERAR
2 BERRERR URREENEBRERZE-

FEECHERKAEEEZELER BFHEER
BRZEZH BREMREN AEETRHEEA
TELZ2HIIRBERR G LUEREENE
AR E T RTINS -

TABREIFHEZESENEARERE
AREEEAEBBEERMAENERT TA
TEREEMNETSRARIEE  AIUERER”
TIFeiRIFEERS

AEFEEEMNTAZBERZBERERIS B LR
B UR TSR TAERIEFENEERT
RiET EREERETRRAL AR KE
AREEAE LHREMEE LUFRE-

R2024FER \BEEEANIEEF AEEDH
BGEENHITHRIERN BIEATARMEE
FBEEERERZZ2NEN LR THAE R
REEZLEBEHRLIET

Year 2024
20244E

Year 2023
2023 E

Cases of work-related fatalities
Cases of work-related injuries
Lost-days due to work-related injuries

THEEW

The Group had no employee involved in work-related fatalities in
the past three years.
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The Group adheres to relevant health and safety laws, such as Law
of the PRC on Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases (H?
= AR HEMBEBERHA%) and Work-Related Injury Insurance
Regulation (LER{&H) of the PRC. During the Year 2024, the
Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with laws and
regulations regarding occupational health and safety.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

As employee’s capabilities can drive the long-term development
of the Group, the Group seeks to enhance their skills by providing
them with various training opportunities. The Group has a Training
Policy that is focused on imparting training and qualifications to the
management, aiming at:

Company secretarial;

China and Hong Kong tax; and

ISO training.
Employee training could be in forms of in-class learning, E-learning,
seminars and coaching. Staff members taking part in external
training are also encouraged to share their learning with other
colleagues. When necessary, employees taking part in professional
examinations are granted paid leaves as well. Under the current
policy, the major training topics include:

Regulatory compliance (e.g. relevant Listing Rules, Corporate

Governance Code, the Securities and Futures Ordinance and

other applicable rules and regulations in Hong Kong and

overseas);

Anti-money laundering and counter terrorist financing; and

Environmental, health and safety regulations.
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During the year, the employee training rate is as follows:

RER EEFENELERIT :

Year 2024 Year 2023
2024F & 20235 E

Percentage of employees trained RiEEB DL 25% 100%
Percentage of employees trained categorised by — #ZMRIEI DR IEE T D LE?

gender @ 60% 46%
Male M 40% 54%
Female ZM%
Percentage of employees trained categorised by 2 {E{EIERI B D ZHIEES

employment categories @ Bt
Senior level = AR 40% 8%
Middle level AR 60% 25%
General level — g AR Al 0% 67%
Notes: P 5T
1. Itis calculated by dividing the number of employees who took partin 1. BZ2EAEIJINEEAEBRUEREES AHEH

training by the number of employees as at year end. Ho

2. It is calculated by dividing the number of employees trained in such 2. AR ZIEE ABGRUZIIEE A

category by the total number of employees trained.

The information on average training hours completed per employee
categorised by gender and employment categories are considered
not significant, hence they are not covered in this report.

LE R

BRI R ERERNE DS HEETMZ
NFHRENERRD /L AER > AIEARRS
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LABOUR STANDARDS

Use of forced and child labour is strictly prohibited by the
Group. The Group adheres to all relevant regulations and laws to
safeguard the rights of the employees and does not tolerate labour
exploitation. If any child labour or forced labour is identified, the
employment contract will be terminated immediately.

All relevant laws, such as the Employment Ordinance of Hong
Kong, Labour Law of the PRC (FREARFEMEL HE), the
Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour (ZIEFHZE T
#3%E) of the PRC and the relevant laws and regulations relating to
preventing child or forced labour are regularly reviewed to ensure
the compliance of the labour practices by the Hong Kong Office
and PRC Offices. During the recruitment process, the Group verifies
the applicant’s age and the practice is extended to the supplier
selection process as well. Any non-compliance will be escalated to
the director for further investigation and handling.

During the Year 2024, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with laws and regulations regarding child labour and
forced labour.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group works with different subcontractors and suppliers.
Therefore, supply chain management is important to the Group's
provision of quality renewable energy business work.

The Group has in place well-established procedures to select
and monitor subcontractors and supplier partners. The Group's
procedures in selecting suppliers for projects are well-documented
in the Selection of Subcontractor and Supplier policy, which requires
careful assessment of suppliers based on criteria such as reputation,
capability, work quality, experience and other relevant factors.
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During the Year 2024, the Group continues to monitor supplier
performance and adopt adequate control measures to ensure that
the purchased products conform to project specifications. Beyond
quality and legal compliance, the Group expects the subcontractors
to adopt fair labour practices and demonstrate environmental
stewardship. The requirements for suppliers are communicated in
the Supplier Code of Conduct, and the Group evaluates supplier
performance through site visits to confirm their compliance
with the code. Only those who pass the evaluation would stay
on the Approved Subcontractors/Suppliers List, and severe non-
compliance may ultimately lead to cease of collaboration.

The Group also has a separate Procedure for Selection of External
Professional Parties, which provides guidance on appointing
external professional advisers based on factors such as quality and
independence.

As of 31 December 2024, the number of subcontractors and
suppliers categorised by geographical region is as follows:

45 E  AEREFBEERHERRE WK
B S miE  ARPIBENERTSERR
KRN EEERARREN AEBRHS 2F
BRMATHEIER RBIRIEEE  cEERH
EENEZRENHEFTATR TEEMER
SHEHEBENRREFRT G TR - RARBNG
MR S BRI RMNF I D ER, (e
BRE BEFTARNBRAEEREENSHE
iko

FEETRABUNIINBEZEALTRERRF
REERERBUMERRZEIN T EERREMR
\3le

72024128310 I E B DD B R AER
ANBINTF :

Year 2024 Year 2023
20245 E 2023FEFE
Hong Kong &5 - _
Mainland China A [ER] P9 37 31

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

It is the goal to improve the quality of life in society and build for a
better environment. To achieve this goal, the Group strives to deliver
high-quality, safe renewable energy business services to the clients.

To ensure the delivery of high-quality services consistently, the
Group has established and implemented an I1SO 9001:2015 certified
quality management system. It provides reliable assurance of the
contracted services and works and fulfils the following criteria:

meeting customer expectations and relevant regulatory
requirements;

satisfying customers through continuous improvement of
products and services; and

fulfilling contract requirements with quality management as
the top priority.
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The Group is committed to protecting customer information and
safeguard their privacy. Guidelines have been set up to control the
collection, access, updating, security and retention of customer data
and assets. In addition, sufficient information technology related
control measures are implemented to prevent unauthorized access
and virus attack in the operating and accounting systems containing
customer information.

The Group engaged experts to regularly monitor any potential
infringement of Intellectual Property Rights.

Customers can submit complaint through social media channel of
the Group's services where a post-sale service staff will regularly
respond and take follow-up actions for customers enquiry. During
the Year 2024, there are no cases of product recall and complaints
received against the Group's products and service which are due to
health and safety issues.

During the Year 2024, the Group is not aware of any non-compliance
with Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong, Trade
Description Ordinance of Hong Kong and the relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong and the PRC relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided and method of redress.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the
Trade Descriptions Ordinance, Copyright Ordinance, Prevention
of Copyright Piracy Ordinance and other applicable laws and
regulations that have a significant impact relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products
and services provided and methods of redress on the Group in Year
2024.

In addition, no significant fines had been reported in Year 2024.
ANTI-CORRUPTION

Employees at all levels are required to conduct themselves with
integrity, impartiality and honesty. The Group strictly adheres to
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong. In addition,
the Group has in place an Anti-bribery and Corruption Policy,
which provides a clear definition of bribery and corruption acts,
and documents the internal control and escalation procedures in
handling suspected cases.
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As a supplement to the Anti-bribery and Corruption Policy, the
Staff Discipline Policy provides guidance on employees’ behaviour,
including the acceptance of gifts and conflict of interests, to further
enhance the awareness of employees. The above policies ensure
that employees across levels adhere to anti-bribery laws and
follow the best practices in combating corruption in all business
operations of the Group.

The Group also seeks to promote awareness of the employees
through anti-corruption training. The colleagues attended anti-
money laundering training, which covered topics including updates
on regulatory changes, banking requirements and the detection of
money laundering.

The staff members are encouraged to report suspected corruption
cases. The Group has a Whistle-blowing Policy that protects
the whistle-blower from possible retaliation while discouraging
malicious allegations made in bad faith through established
mechanisms. Under the policy, the whistle-blower’s identity is
protected and retaliation is not permissible against him or her. The
Group will investigate the reported incidents thoroughly and will
take disciplinary actions against any misconduct. In addition, the
Group shall report suspected corruption cases to the Independent
Commission Against Corruption of Hong Kong. The Group held one
session of anti-corruption training for directors and staff.

The Group strictly regulates the operation of its business to ensure
compliance with national and local laws and regulations relating to
anti-corruption during the course of operation. In Year 2024, there
was no case of any material non-compliance with the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Anti-Unfair Competition Law
of the PRC (PEARHKMBEIR FIEEHFIE) and the relevant
laws and regulations relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering that have a significant impact. In addition, there was no
report of significant fines or sanctions as a result of non-compliance

with the relevant laws and regulations in Year 2024.
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COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group sincerely believes that growth is closely tied to the
surrounding community and the environment. In order to create
environmentally friendly work places and increase awareness of
environmental protection and sustainability, the Group participated
in “Environmentally Friendly Work Places in Sun Hung Kai Centre”
by adopting habits such as: (i) collection of recyclable waste; (ii)
conservation of resource consumption; (iii) using environmental
friendly building materials and finishing; and (iv) limiting the use of
external advertising light boxes.

FEEDBACK

The Group will continue to adopt measures for the benefit of ESG
in its operations. Stakeholders' feedback is valuable and can help
the Group to improve its operational, environmental, social and
governance policies and procedures. Please feel free to share your
feedback on the performance via any of the following channels:

Address: Room Nos. 808-814, 8th Floor, Sun Hung Kai Centre,
30 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Email: info@ctvision994.com
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;L

ZHONGHUI

To the Shareholders of CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CT
Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 84 to 187, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
"HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the "Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. We have determined the matters described below to be the
key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

REVENUE RECOGNITION OF CONSTRUCTION
SERVICE

Refer to Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements

We identified the revenue recognition from these construction
contracts as a key audit matter as it is significant to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
and management’s judgment is involved in measuring the stage
of completion of construction works completed during the
year. Construction works may take several years to complete.
Management estimates the revenue by assessing the progress
of construction works. As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements, the management’s estimate of revenue and
the completion status of construction works requires significant
judgment and has a significant impact on the amount and timing of
revenue recognised.
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Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Obtaining an understanding of the key controls over the
revenue recognition and determination of the completion
status of construction works;

- Obtaining an understanding from the project managers of the
status of completion of the construction projects during the
year on a sample basis; and

- Assessing the management’s estimate of revenue from
construction works, by checking to the Group's latest internal
construction progress reports on a sample basis to verify the
value of construction works completed and comparing these
to the latest certificates issued by the surveyors appointed by
the customers.

We consider that the Group's estimates of the revenue recognised
are supported by the available evidence.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES AND
CONTRACT ASSETS

Refer to Notes 20 and 21 to the consolidated financial
statements

The Group tested the amounts of trade and bills receivables and
contract assets for impairment. This impairment test is significant
to our audit because the balances of trade and bills receivables and
contract assets of HK$194,114,000 and HK$98,178,000 respectively,
as at 31 December 2024 are material to the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, the Group's impairment test involves
application of judgement and is based on estimates.
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Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Assessing the Group's procedures on granting credit limits and
credit periods to debtors;

- Assessing the Group's relationship and transaction history with
the debtors;

- Evaluating the Group's impairment assessment;

- Assessing ageing of the trade and bills receivables;
- Assessing creditworthiness of the debtors;

- Checking subsequent settlements from the debtors;

- Assessing the disclosure of the Group's exposure to credit risk
in the consolidated financial statements; and

- Testing subsequent contract work certification and settlement
of contract assets and receivables respectively after the
balance sheet date on a sample basis.

We consider that the Group's impairment test for trade and bills
receivables and contract assets is supported by the available
evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not

cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's website
at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Fong Tak Ching

Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number P06353

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

roEmMREMEE N

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes HKS$'000 HKS$'000
bz FET TET
Revenue & 5 558,058 345,847
Cost of revenue W 5 B A (518,143) (325,108)
Gross profit EF 39,915 20,739
Other income HAMA 7 1,296 548
Net impairment losses on trade and B 5 PR GRS K FE I ER
bills receivables and contract assets REHNEERERIE
e 3.1(b) (6,070) (3,529)
Selling and administrative expenses HERITHEX 8 (57,088) (37,550)
Operating loss K& E18 (21,947) (19,792)
Finance costs DN 10 (296) (969)
Loss before income tax PREFTS M AIRSIE (22,243) (20,761)
Income tax expense FriSiR B2 11 (4,264) (1,888)
Loss for the year FEKE (26,507) (22,649)
Other comprehensive loss Hth2mEsE
Item that may be reclassified to o] E #5725 F B mm HY
profit or loss: EH
Exchange differences on translation of ~ HABIEINEFEFTE LM
foreign operations PERERR (3,992) (2,901)
Total comprehensive loss for the year £E 2 HEIE4EEE (30,499) (25,550)

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
iRoEm AREME E W @

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes HKS$'000 HKS$'000
[z THET TEIT
Loss for the year attributable to: MTFALEGEE
Sk
Owners of the Company KABHER A (23,810) (21,600)
Non-controlling interest JEFERG T (2,697) (1,049)
(26,507) (22,649)
Total comprehensive loss for the year U T ALTEIEEERE
attributable to: E1B4ERE
Owners of the Company KABHER A (28,087) (24,675)
Non-controlling interest JEFERG R T (2,412) (875)
(30,499) (25,550)
Loss per share for loss attributable to ZsAF#EH AELEE
owners of the Company 28k
Basic and diluted (HK cents) BEARREE B 12 (2.59) (2.83)

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 4z ESEZEREMEEINEREEIEREMN
comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the — —{fR:E
accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RE R BINER

At 31 December 2024 F22024512831H

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M5 FAET TET
Assets BE
Non-current assets JERENEE
Property, plant and equipment ME-BEKRFEE 15 1,022 1,219
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 6,133 8,710
Goodwill [k 17 20,258 20,943
Deposits b 20 1,239 1,385
Deferred tax assets FIEMIBE E 23 3,225 5,921
31,877 38,178
Current assets REBEE
Inventory 78 19 2,564 934
Trade and bills receivables, deposits B 5 EIHRIER
and other receivables FEWER - EE Kk
HhfE Wk I 20 237,216 94,038
Contract assets BNEE 21 98,178 79,686
Cash and bank balances B RIBITARR 22 42,226 46,551
380,184 221,209
Total assets mEE 412,061 259,387
Equity i
Share capital &2 24 9,280 8,508
Reserves =15 25 104,323 103,006
Capital and reserves attributable to ERBVEBANEHER
owners of the Company ki 113,603 111,514
Non-controlling interest JEERG RS (8,451) (7,103)
Total equity Tt AR ZR 105,152 104,411

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RE M BBINER

At 31 December 2024 122024512831H

2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
ff 5 FHET FTET
Liabilities af&
Non-current liabilities ERENEE
Lease liabilities HEEaRE 16 1,471 3,156
1,471 3,156
Current liabilities mEMaE
Trade and other payables B2 REMENIE 26 237,617 105,521
Contract liabilities HBHEE 2] 32,938 454
Current tax liabilities BN IE & & 11,329 10,022
Amount due to immediate FERTEEER AT RIE
holding company 29(a) 21,066 31,993
Lease liabilities HEaE 16 2,488 3,830
305,438 151,820
Total liabilities E =N 306,909 154,976
Total equity and liabilities HEDKRERE 412,061 259,387

The consolidated financial statements on pages 84 to 187 were

approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2025 and were

signed on its behalf:

Guo Jianfeng
R & 1%
DIRECTOR
EE

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

AR

At 31 December 2024 F22024512831H

Attributable to owners of the Company

FAFEE A
Non-
Share Share Exchange  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve losses Total interest  Total equity
B BinpiEE ER ke Fitis EH S (2200 5 ans
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TER TER TER TAEr TEr
At 1 January 2023 R2023F181H 7,608 278,775 (4,279) (180,545) 101,559 (6,228) 95,331
Loss for the year FEHR - - - (21,600) (21,600) (1,049) (22,649)
Other comprehensive (loss)/ ~ EEEM2E (518) /
income for the year W - - (3075) - (3075) 174 (2901)
Total comprehensive loss FEXEHELS
for the year - - (3,075) (21,600) (24,675) (875) (25,550)
Contributions of equity B
net of transaction costs HIES N 900 33,730 - - 34630 - 34,630
At 31 December 2023 120235128318 8,508 312,505 (7354) (202,145) 111,514 7,103) 104411
At 1 January 2024 R2024F1 818 8,508 312,505 (7,354) (202,145) 111,514 (7,103) 104,411
Loss for the year FEHR - - - (23,810) (23,810) (2,697) (26,507)
Other comprehensive (loss)/ ~ FEEMZE
income for the year (58) /& - - (4,277) = (4,277) 285 (3,992)
Total comprehensive loss FEZEBBEE
for the year - - (4,277) (23,810 (28,087) (2,412) (30,499)
Contribution by non-controlling VMR ER T E
interest - - - - - 1,064 1,064
Contributions of equity N R
net of transaction costs R 2 A
(Note 24) (FitzE24) 72 29,404 - - 30,176 - 30,176
At 31 December 2024 182024%12631H 9,280 341,909 (11,631) (225,955) 113,603 (8,451) 105,152
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be — L#i4R &R BB R EAABRIMIZE —HEIE

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

\vT\ EEﬁ/)IL%%

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E12831 BIEEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M5 TFHET FHET
Cash flows from operating activities ZLEZHRBRERE
Cash (used in)/generated K= (FrA) /FriERS
from operations 28 (20,500) 1,212
Income tax paid BNER (2) (947)
Net cash (used in)/generated from £ 58 (FrA) %
operating activities R&FEE (20,502) 265
Cash flows from investing activities REFHFRBRERE
Purchases of property, plant and BEEME -BEKREE
equipment 15 (25) —
Interest received BUF 2 209 73
Net cash generated from investing R EZHFRSIRSFEE
activities 184 73
Cash flows from financing activities BIE EBIFIFIRERE
(Repayment to)/advances from (B EFERABIER)
immediate holding company S BEERATERR (10,341) 13,274
Principal elements of lease payments ~ FAE R EEE 5 (3,224) (4,467)
Interest paid BEHE (296) (969)
Contribution by non-controlling FFEERERTE
interest 1,064 =
Proceeds from new issue of shares, BT D PTSRIE
net of transaction costs MR 5 A 30,176 34,630
Net cash generated from REEBMRRE R
financing activities 17,379 42,468
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
\vT\ Eﬁi/m%%

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
M5 TFHET FHET
Net (decrease)/increase in cashand HRERIFEEEY
cash equivalents GR2) Ighni$EE (2,939) 42,806
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning NEZIREKRIRE
of the year Z£EY 46,551 4,454
Effects of exchange rate changes on EXEEHHIRERIRE
cash and cash equivalents EEYHNEE (1,386) (709)
Cash and cash equivalents at end REXRZRERHAE
of the year LEWY 42,226 46,551

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in  _E#it4xR

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N

e B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E12831 BIEEE

GENERAL

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited (the
“Company”’) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, (Cap. 22, Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange’). Its immediate holding company and ultimate
holding company is CT Vision Investment Limited, a private
limited company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
("BVI"). The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company is Room Nos. 808-814, 8th
Floor, Sun Hung Kai Centre, 30 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in
Note 14.

These consolidated financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HKS$"), unless otherwise
stated.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of the material accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to
all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
(a) Compliance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) and Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (“HKCO”)
The consolidated financial statements have

been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs and
disclosure requirements of the HKCO Cap. 622.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis.

New and amended standards adopted by the
Group

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the
new and revised HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
that are relevant to its operations and effective for
its accounting year beginning on 1 January 2024.
HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards; Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKAS"); and Interpretations. The adoption of
these new and revised HKFRSs did not result in
significant changes to the Group's accounting
policies, presentation of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements and amounts reported for
the current year and prior years.

New and amended standards not yet adopted

The Group has not applied the new HKFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective. The
application of these new HKFRSs will not have
material impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

2.

FTEFEHEE @

2.1

RREE ()

(b)

(©

(d)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea) 2.

2.2 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from

the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group (refer

to Note 2.3).

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of

subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated DAREEETEREMEEKEE
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive FEEREMRMEEMBERIETA

income, consolidated statement of changes in equity

FTEFEHEE @

22 MIBARE

ErEmEaARe

Bk (B2 RMEE23) °

AR —2 e

BIE25-

and consolidated statement of financial position

respectively.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that
results in a loss of control represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the
sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in
that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill

relating to that subsidiary and any related accumulated HIZZE

foreign currency translation reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

23

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for all business combinations, regardless of
whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary comprises the:

fair values of the assets transferred:;

liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business;

equity interests issued by the Group;

fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement; and

fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with
limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values
at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any
non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Business combinations (continued)
The excess of the
consideration transferred,

amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity, and

acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less
than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the
business acquired, the difference is recognised directly
in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration
is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date
of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity's
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which
a similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions. Contingent consideration is classified either
as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a
financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4o A
Wik 3

RATS R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

25

2.6

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision maker (the "CODM”").
The CODM consists of the executive directors of the
Company.

Foreign currency translation
(i)  Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (‘the functional
currency’). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in HKS, which is also the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.

2.
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Notes to the Consplidated Financial Statements
e HRERMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(ii)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates
are generally recognised in profit or loss. They
are deferred in equity if they relate to qualifying
cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment
hedges or are attributable to part of the net
investment in a foreign operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that
relate to borrowings are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, within finance costs.
All other foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income on a net
basis.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined. Translation differences on assets
and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as
part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets
such as equities classified as fair value through
other comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continves) 2. FBEBETHE @

2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued) 26 SMEIAE (B
(iii) Group companies (i) FEEHRE]

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated
at the closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position;

income and expenses for each statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E12831 BIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved) 2. FBETHE @

2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued) 26 SMEIAE (B
(iii) Group companies (continued) (i) FEERE #E)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising REEGAESRER  REIRIE
from the translation of any net investment in BAMKREIEURIEERAZSE
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other RENHHIEENERREMNS
financial instruments designated as hedges MTEEXNEREZENEMS
of such investments, are recognised in other R TR o I HEIRIMETS
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation FEBRAMEFE—IHDHME
is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net B ARAE R ERBE N
investment are repaid, the associated exchange DEEEm FAREBRN—
differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as part By o

of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the AWEEINEBMEENEE &
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as N ERERRBIRIIEENE
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and ErEE WU mERRE -

translated at the closing rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.7

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a separate
asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
reporting period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate their cost, net of their residual
values, over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Solar power system 20 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Office equipment 5 years
Plant and machinery 3 to 4 years

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
2.9).

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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RATS R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.8

29

Goodwill

Goodwill is measured as described in Note 2.3. Goodwill
is not amortised but it is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and
is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for
the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is
made to those cash-generating units or groups of
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the business combination in which the goodwill
arose. The units or groups of units are identified at the
lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes, being the operating segments.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are
tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows
which are largely independent of the cash inflows from
other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at the end of each reporting period.

Annual Report 2024 &R

2.

28

29

n‘l’ﬁ% (&)

T
344

BERM 23 E - BmE T FE
i EEFETRERNR NESHN
BB R BT E BT AE Rl (B Iy B SR it
EITRAE > YA AR E RS RERS
BAR -HEBBNOKREREESE
HFrEERAMNMENIREE

BEERD |JIE$§$$TILFJ;‘HZ
BRI - ﬁ@afﬁﬂﬁ ARERELED
BERNEBSHD %*E’Jfﬁﬁﬁiﬁu
NIRTELEMARNFH - SARE
BEms 25 EUNEMHER %S
EZHENRERER BMEEDED) #A -

FFERBEERE
ESFETRERS  NESHH

ﬁﬂmmﬁwﬁT*ﬁﬁﬁ%%%m
ETAR EEHHBEREBELREE
thEEZREETAEEIKER &
MEMEEETRENS - BESIE
REENRAEEBEETKROSEEN
EEER-oROSEUBEN AT
BENREEREREREERE 2B
¥=%%&°¥Eﬁ@ﬁi§FET“
BHEBESRANREBEBRAES (RE
Fiﬁuﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁkﬁﬁ&
EEBIREMEERNEEAR R
ERA-BHIEREZIFSREE @
B350 RE R SRS WiIRT R E R
[BlZ AT SEME o

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited o X JE&# (B FX) 258 B R A S

101



102

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets

(i)

(ii)

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

those to be measured subsequently at fair
value; and

those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income (“OCI"). For investments in
equity instruments that are not held for trading,
this will depend on whether the Group has
made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVOCI").

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the financial
assets have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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RATS R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

(iii) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL"), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at FVTPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit or
loss and presented in other losses together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved) 2. FEBEFEEE @

2.10 Investments and other financial assets (continued) 210 BEREMESREE @)
(iii) Measurement (continued) (i) FEZE @)

Debt instruments (continued)

FVTPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOC| are measured at FVTPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVTPL is recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income and presented net
in the period in which it arises.

(iv) Impairment (iv)

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade and bills receivables and contract
assets, the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the assets, see Note 3.1(b) for
further details.
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2.11 Offsetting financial instruments 211 IRSEERITA

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of

financial position where the Group currently has a REE

legally enforceable right to offset the recognised

fil A< 52 [ B B A I OE R B BITRY
BRI LURIEE MR LR BARRT
ERENFAREREERFES
& B AR 4R & B Bk u R Rt iH

amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a THBEERBEBEL SR FRE

net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consplidated Financial Statements
e HRERMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.12

2.13

2.14

Trade and bills receivables, deposits and other
receivables

Trade and bills receivables are amounts due from
customers for goods sold or services performed in
the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade
and bills receivables, deposits and other receivable is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.

Trade and bills receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional unless
they contain significant financing components, when
they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the
trade and bills receivables and other receivables with
the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. See Note 3.1(b)
for a description of the Group's impairment policies.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand and deposits held at call
with financial institutions and bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity (Note 24).
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue

of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Annual Report 2024 &R

2.

FEEHBR®

2.12

213

2.14

B 5 RURRIE R FERE S R H At

B EWRENREWERERELR
RS BIE PR IHE B MR HARE M
FER & P IREN YR IE < 35 B 5 IR
BEREWRRE B RKHEMEWRRIE
A E—FH—FUN GEEBER
REBHR MMER)) Y BIR#RE
BRRBBE -FLERE] BIFIRIE
MENEE-

8 5 BURIE K B RIB A R IZ E A%
B FRIFZERURIE
BEERMEND MR AFERER-
AEEFA B S RBREREREE
R A FEGRIR R B By 2 WA G AL
REng FHILERRBERMEL
REHR A5t 8 o B A S B EK
REVEEIB B2 RMIEE31(b)°

RERREZFEY

e REMNBRNEIMS RE
REZHFEVEEFHRRES N2/
BERFENERAIRTES IR1TE
XRGEEMBRRRRBEEER T
BT

s
HEkoEsED (5E4) o
BT RM SRREREGAIEE MR

AERmIAR PR A BT ERIRT
bR BRIRTE) ©

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited o X JE&# (B FX) 258 B R A S

105



106

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.15

2.16

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Group prior to the end of
financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are
unsecured and are usually paid within the credit term.
Trade and other payables are presented as current
liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months
after the reporting period (or in the normal cycle of the
business if longer). They are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and
to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject
to interpretation and considers whether it is probable
that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax
treatment. The Group measures its tax balances either
based on the most likely amount or the expected
value, depending on which method provides a better
prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea) 2.

2.16 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. BoHRLEFASMERBERS EHKE
HHERIN) B E S B ENFIIRTES
MERZ AT EGTEmNERN
MR KR » IR FCAR < IEIEFT ISR

Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of

FEGHBR®
216 EPEARIEIEFRISH (@)

EAEFF1FH

RERSHARMCRHNEER

RBIME (FoEA) MERE -

the reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the

deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise

those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount
and tax bases of investments in foreign operations
where the Group is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable

B LUREST ©

SRR BB RN EE

that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and HEENABBEEERHE TERAR
ROERTINATIRIERER > B B
FEREEAENFANEREERFE
BER MR EEEERBAES

tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle
on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the

liability simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.16 Current and deferred income tax (continued)
Deferred income tax (continued)

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

2.17 Employee benefits
(i)  Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including
nonmonetary benefits that are expected to be
settled wholly within 12 months after the end
of the period in which the employees render
the related service are recognised in respect
of employees’ services up to the end of the
reporting period and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities
are settled. The liabilities are presented as current
employee benefit obligations in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

(ii)  Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

The full-time employees of the Group are covered
by various government-sponsored pension plans
under which the employees are entitled to a
monthly pension based on certain formulas.
Contributions to these plans are expensed as
incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Employee benefits (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses taking into account of the profit of
the Group. The Group recognises a provision
where contractually obliged or where there is
a past practice that has created a constructive
obligation.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group before
the normal retirement date, or when an employee
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for
these benefits. The Group recognises termination
benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a)
when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity
recognises costs for a restructuring that is within
the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment
of terminations benefits. In the case of an offer
made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on
the number of employees expected to accept
the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period are
discounted to present value.
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Notes to the Consplidated Financial Statements
eI MIET

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.18

2.19

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation and the amount can
be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for
future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the end
of the reporting period. The discount rate used to
determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the liability. The
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sales of goods or services in
the ordinary course of the Group’s activities.

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation
to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e.
the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods
or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the
Group is an agent).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved) 2. FBETHE @

2.19 Revenue recognition (continued)

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified goods
or services before that goods or services are transferred

to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is
to arrange for the provision of the specified goods or
services by another party. In this case, the Group does
not control the specified goods or services provided
by another party before that goods or services are
transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as
an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any HHIEEE mRBRAFEESHN
AR E AT S EREET I o

fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled

219 WESHERR (&)

EEAe

=4 O

in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or

services to be provided by the other party.

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of WamTERIRFZNEFNREERER
PR - R FENRRREANE
ROERRE > B mEARF A2 61
B AE 7 — B BRF R P9 BX 7T 2R B PF B 4

the goods or services is transferred to the customer.
Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods or

services may be transferred over time or at a point in o

time.

Control of the goods or services is transferred over time

if the Group's performance:

provides all of the benefits received and

BERER

consumed simultaneously by the customer; BRE ;

creates or enhances an asset that the customer

controls as the Group performs; or

does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Revenue recognition (continued)

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

If control of the goods or services transfer over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue
is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the goods or services. Specific criteria
where revenue is recognised are described below.

When either party to a contract has performed, the
Group presents the contract in the consolidated
statement of financial position as a contract asset
or a contract liability, depending on the relationship
between the entity’'s performance and the customer’s
payment.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group
has a right to an amount of consideration that is
unconditional, before the Group transfers a good
or service to the customer, the Group presents the
contract as a contract liability when the payment
is made or a receivable is recorded (whichever is
earlier). A contract liability is the Group's obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an
unconditional right to consideration. A right to
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of
time is requited before payment of that consideration is
due.
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Notes to the Consplidated Financial Statements
e HRERMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Revenue recognition (continued)

(i)

Construction services

The Group provides construction services
under contracts with customers and may take
several years to complete the construction.
Such contracts are fixed-price contracts entered
into before the services begin except for
any variable orders or contact modification.
Under the terms of the contracts, the Group is
contractually required to perform the services
at the customers’ specified sites that creates or
enhance an asset that the customer controls as
the Group performs. Revenue from provision of
construction services is therefore recognised over
time for each individual contract by using output
method, i.e. on the basis of measurement of the
value of services transferred to the customer to
date. The measurement is based on surveys of
construction services completed by the Group
to date as certified by architects, surveyors or
other representatives appointed by the customers
and adjusted by the estimated value of work
performed but which is yet to be certified at each
of the reporting date. Management considers
that output method would faithfully depict the
Group's performance towards satisfaction of
performance obligation under HKFRS 15.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Revenue recognition (continued)

(i)

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

Construction services (continued)
Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration
(variation order of construction work), the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it
will be entitled using the most likely amount.

The estimated amount of variable consideration
is included in the transaction price only to the
extent that is highly probable that such an
inclusion will not result in a significant revenue
reversal in the future when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When there is change in circumstances, the
Group updates the estimated transaction price
(including updating its assessment of whether an
estimate of variable consideration is constrained)
to better predict the circumstances present at the
end of the reporting period and the changes in
circumstances during the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Revenue recognition (continued)

(i)

Construction services (continued)

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised amount of consideration
for the effects of the time value of money if the
timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or
implicitly) provides the customers or the Group
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of services to customer. In those circumstances,
the contract contains a significant financing
component. A significant financing component
may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or
implied by the payment terms agreed by the
parties of the contracts.

Notwithstanding the above, a contract does
not have a significant financing component in
circumstances where payments are in accordance
with the typical payment terms of the relevant
industry, which has a primary purpose other than
financing.

Warranty

For warranty embedded to the construction
contracts, the Group accounts for the warranty in
accordance with HKAS 37, “Provision, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets” as the warranty
provides the customer with assurance that the
contracting work complies with the agreed-upon
specifications.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Revenue recognition (continued)

(i)

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

Construction services (continued)
Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its
construction contracts. The Group first assesses
whether these costs qualify for recognition as an
asset in terms of other relevant standards, failing
which it recognises an asset for these costs only if
they meet all of the following criteria:

(@)  the costs relate directly to a contract or to
an anticipated contract that the Group can
specifically identify;

(b)  the costs generate or enhance resources
of the Group that will be used in satisfying
(or in continuing to satisfy) performance
obligations in the future; and

(c)  the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently
amortised on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods
or services to which the assets relate. The asset is
subject to impairment review.

2.

FEGHBR @

219 WEEHERR (@)

(i

Annual Report 2024 R

BER (#)
IBITERIZ A

FEERERSGOPTELEETE
Wz - REEESREREM
BRI ERENEREEE
REDISEE WIAEER E
ENEUTEBRENERTA
SRZENEERREE !

(@ BRIRAS A5 E 0] B R
Az B RIAMEI L2
BHREEERRF

b AEARETTHTERFAR
BT GiFERTT BRE
NEEZERBUEED
BFrIEN0 5 &

© ARApATEREIU(G -

AR BEERRERAER
E(EBPEFEEEERMBNE
MR —) #iH - REER
EITRESR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Revenue recognition (continued)

(i)

Construction services (continued)
Contract assets and contract liabilities

In accordance with the terms of the contracts
entered into with customers, the Group is
required to submit to customers monthly
payment applications for the value of work done
under the contracts along with any variation
orders performed. Customers will settle normally
from 0 to 60 days after certifying our monthly
payment applications based on their assessment
of work done by the Group. Customers usually
retain an amount up to 10% of the contract
value as retention money for the contract. The
terms and conditions in relation to the release
of retention vary from contract to contract and
the retention period generally ranged from six to
twelve months.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration from customers in exchange for
the provision of construction services that the
Group has transferred to the customers that is
not yet unconditional. Contract assets arise when
the Group has provided the construction services
under the relevant contracts but the works have
yet to be certified by architects, surveyors or other
representatives appointed by the customers and/
or the Group's right to payment is still conditional
on factors other than passage of time. Any
amount previously recognised as a contract asset
is reclassified to trade receivables at the point
when the Group's right to payment becomes
unconditional other than passage of time, i.e. the
point when the Group receive the certificate.
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Notes to the Consplidated Financial Statements
eI MIET

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Revenue recognition (continued)

(i)

(ii)

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

Construction services (continued)
Contract assets and contract liabilities (continued)

The Group may require a deposit before the
commencement of the contracts. This would
give rise to contract liabilities as it represents
the Group's obligation to transfer the aforesaid
services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

E-commerce-related services

The Group provides services to facilitate upstream
suppliers to sell goods to end customer through
an online platform operated by an independent
third party ("E-commerce-related services”). The
Group does not control specific goods prior to
the purchase by the end customer. Therefore, the
Group is acting as an agent in the transactions.

Revenue from the E-commerce-related services
is recognised at a point in time when the
transactions through the online platform is
completed or when the provision of the related
service is completed. The Group records the
net amount that it retains from such completed
transaction as revenue.

2.
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Notes to the Consplidated Financial Statements
e HRERMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Revenue recognition (continued)

(iii)  Building information modelling service

(iv)

The Group provides business building information
modelling services under fixed-price contracts.
Revenue from providing services is recognised
based on the actual service provided to the
end of the reporting period as a proportion
of the total services to be provided because
the customer receives and uses the benefits
simultaneously. The revenue i s determined based
on the proportion of the actual costs incurred
relative to the estimated total costs for satisfaction
of the service.

The customer pays the fixed amount based on
the contract terms. If the services rendered by the
Group exceed the payment, a contract asset is
recognised. If the payments exceed the services
rendered, a contract liability is recognised.

Sales of parts

Revenue from the sales of parts are recognised
at a point in time when the control of goods has
transferred, being when the goods have been
shipped to the customers’ specific location.

A receivable is recognised by the Group when
the goods are delivered to the customers as this
represents the Group's right to consideration
becomes unconditional, as only the passage of
time is required before payment is due.

The customers have neither rights of return
nor rights to defer or avoid payment for the
goods once they are accepted by the customers
upon receipt of goods. The contracts signed
with customers are short-term and fixed price
contracts. The normal credit term is 7 days upon
delivery.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Contingent liabilities

2.21

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because
it is not probable that outflow of economic resources
will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be
measured reliably.

Earnings per share
(i)  Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

the profit attributable to equity owners
of the Company, excluding any costs of
servicing equity other than ordinary shares;
and

by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the
financial year, adjusted for bonus elements
in ordinary shares issued during the year
and excluding treasury shares.

(ii)  Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures
used in the determination of basic earnings per
share to take into account:

the after-income tax effect of interest
and other financing costs associated with
dilutive potential ordinary shares; and

the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea) 2.

2.22 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased

asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to the lease and non-lease components
based on their relative stand-alone prices. However,
for leases of real estate for which the Group is a lessee,
it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease
components and instead accounts for these as a single

lease component.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
other than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as

security for borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities

FTEFEHEE @
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include the net present value of the following lease RE

payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payment that are based on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate

as at the commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the group

under residual value guarantees;
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Notes to the Consplidated Financial Statements
eI MIET

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continves) 2. FBEBETHE @

2.22 Leases (continued) 222 HE @)

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising that
option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was
received;

uses a build-up approach that starts with a riskfree
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held
by the Group, which does not have recent third-
party financing; and

makes adjustments specific to the lease, such as
term, country, currency and security.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea) 2.

2.22 Leases (continued)

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available
to the individual lessee (through recent financing or
market data) which has a similar payment profile to the
lease, then the group entities use that rate as a starting

FTEFEHEE @

222 THE (&

point to determine the incremental borrowing rate. SR ZEEE, -

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the

liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the

following:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease

liability;

any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives

received;

any initial direct costs; and

restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset
is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.
While the Group revalues its land and buildings that are
presented within property, plant and equipment, it has
chosen not to do so for the right-of-use buildings held

by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.22

2.23

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

Leases (continued)

Payments associated with short-term leases of
equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value
assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less.

Rental income from operating leases where the Group
is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line
basis over the lease term except when an alternative
basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits
to be derived from the use of the leased assets. Initial
direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset
and recognised as expense over the lease term on the
same basis as lease income. The respective leased assets
are included in the consolidated statement of financial
position based on their nature.

Rental income derived from the lease of solar power
system within renewable energy business are presented
as revenue.

Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend
declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer
at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of
the reporting period but not distributed at the end of
the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.24

2.25

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with
all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they are
intended to compensate.

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVTPL is
included in the net fair value gains/(losses) on these
assets. Any other interest income is included in other
income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently
become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets the effective interest rate is applied to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction
of the loss allowance).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

Financial risk factors

This note explains the Group's exposure to financial
risks and how these risks could affect the Group's
future financial performance. Current year profit or loss
information has been included where relevant to add
further context.

The Group’s financial instruments include trade and
bills receivables, deposits and other receivables, cash
and bank balances, trade and other payables, amount
due to immediate holding company, lease liabilities,
borrowings.

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in Note 18. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (interest rate risk and
foreign currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

There has been no change to the types of the Group's
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the
manner in which it manages and measures the risks.

(a) Market risk

(i) Foreign currency risk

The Group has no significant exposure to
foreign currency risk as substantially all of
the Group's transactions are denominated
in HKS, United States dollars (“USS$") or
the Group entity’s respective functional
currency.

As the HKS is pegged to the USS, the
Group considers the risk of movements in
exchange rates between the HKS and the
USS to be insignificant.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E12831 BIEEE

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(a)

Market risk (continued)

(i)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair
value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Group
is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to lease liabilities. The Group is also
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank balances.

The Group has not used financial derivatives
to hedge against the interest rate risk.
However, from time to time, if interest
rate fluctuates significantly, appropriate
measures would be taken to manage
interest risk exposure.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

Financial risk factors (continued)

(a)

Market risk (continued)

(i)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
(continued)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that a
general increase/decrease of 50 basis points
in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, would have decreased/increased
the Group's loss after tax by approximately
HK$158,000 (2023: decreased/increased of
HK$175,000), in response to the general
increase/decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined assuming that the change
in interest rates had occurred at the end
of the reporting period and had been
applied to the exposure to interest rate
risk for nonderivative financial instruments
in existence at that date. There has been
no change on the basis in preparing the
sensitivity analysis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk

(i)

Risk management

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The
credit risk of the Group mainly arises from
cash and cash equivalents, trade and bills
receivables, contract assets, deposit and
other receivables. The carrying amounts
of these balances represent the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation
to these assets.

To manage the credit arising from cash held
at banks, the Group only makes transactions
with reputable international banks and
financial institutions. There has been no
recent history of default in relation to these
banks and financial institutions.

To manage the risk arising from trade
and bills receivables and contract assets,
the Group has policies in place for credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Risk management (continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk
of trade and bills receivables and contract
assets as 55% and 88% (2023: 48% and 76%)
of the total gross trade and bills receivables
and contract assets was due from the
Group's largest amount debtor and top five
largest debtors respectively.

To manage the risk arising from other
receivables, the Group makes periodic
collective assessments as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical settlement
records and past experience.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets

Trade and bills receivables and contract
assets

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measure expected credit losses
("ECL") which uses a lifetime ECL for trade
and bills receivables and contract assets.

To measure the ECL, trade and bills
receivables and contract assets have
been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The
contract assets relate to uncertified work
in progress and retention receivables,
which have substantially the same risk
characteristics as the trade and bills
receivables for the same contracts.
Management therefore concluded that
the expected loss rates for trade and bills
receivables are a reasonable approximation
of the loss rates for the contract assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets(continued)

Non-credit-impaired trade and bills
receivables and contract assets

For non-credit-impaired trade and
bills receivables and contract assets,
management has assessed the ECL based
on the customers’ past history of making
payments when due and current ability to
pay, the payment profiles of revenue and
the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced. Management also considered
forward-looking information such as
unemployment rate or gross domestic
product that may impact the customer’s
ability to repay the outstanding balances.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E12831 BIEEE

3.

3.1

(b)

(i)

RATS R MIEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. MBRMBEE®
Financial risk factors (continued) 31 HMEEBER @)
Credit risk (continued) b) EERE #E)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) () ZHEERE @)
Trade and bills receivables and contract B ENAREBERERER
assets (continued) MEHEE &
Non-credit-impaired trade and bills BEEERENEZEI
receivables and contract assets (continued) TIEREVREEREGNE
E (#)
The loss allowance was determined as B SNSRI R ENE R
follows for both trade and bills receivables RENEENEBREBEE
and contract assets: EWNF
Within More than More than More than
30 days 30 days 60 days 90 days
Current past due past due past due past due Total
31 December 2024 W4ENB3A I #8308 #8608 #8908 3
Trade and bill receivables SARNRERENEE
Gross camying amourt (HKS 000 REA(E (TH7) 4702 31,007 45293 31353 86,235 198590
Loss alowance (HKS000) FEEE (TEn) - 434 634 43 2970 4476
Weight average expected loss ate MEFHBHEEE 0% 140% 140% 140% 345% 25%
Contract assets aHEE
Gross camying amount (000 B EAE (FiT) 100,031 - - - - 100,031
Loss allowance (HKS000) EEEE (TEn) 1853 - - - = 1853
Weight average expected loss rate  JIEFBHEEE 185% 0% 0% 0% 0% 185%
Within More than More than More than
30days 30days 60 days 90 days
Current past due Dast due past due Dast due Total
el ] B i Bl
31 December 1003 ABEE3NA 18 A#BNE fgetlla BE0H #8o0d fa3t
Trade and bill receivables BRRNRARENZE
Grosscarying amount (6000 BEA(E (TE7) 570 - 19307 24 4097 69985
Loss alowance (HKS00) FRRE (Tin) - - - - 1670 1670
Weight average expected loss ate - METHBHERE 0% (g 0% 0% 397% 23%
Contract assets AlEE
Grosscarying amount (46000)  BEAAfE (F &) 8,198 - - - - 8198
Loss dllowance (HKS 000) FBEE (TEn) 512 . - = 5 512
Veight verage expected loss ate ETHEMEER 064% % 0% 0 % 064%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3.

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

MHBRRER @

31 MBRBER @

b) 1FEEE (&

Impairment of financial assets (continued)) () ZHEERE @)
Trade and bills receivables and contract B 5 EWRIE R EWEE
assets (continued) RENEE (&
The following tables show the movements TR EZEIRIE &
in impairment losses for trade and bills BWEERENEERE
receivables and contract assets: E5IE 2 BE)
Non-credit- Credit-
impaired impaired Total
EERE (EERE st
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FET FAET TAET
Movements in the net B 5 FE U IE K FE IR
impairment losses for trade  Z1E R EE1E3 58
and bills receivables Z 5
At 1 January 2023 %20235F1H81H 491 3,630 4121
Increase in loss allowance SRR B ERHY
recognised in profit or loss 518 #5110
during the year 1,199 1,653 2,852
Exchange difference bE 2 E %R (20) (98) (118)
At 31 December 2023 $220235%12H31H 1,670 5,185 6,855
At 1 January 2024 $220245F181H 1,670 5,185 6,855
Increase in loss allowance FRRERESRD
recognised in profit or loss K58 B 12 N
during the year 2,911 1,775 4,686
Exchange difference fE R EER (105) (201) (306)
At 31 December 2024 820244 12H31H 4,476 6,759 11,235
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. BMEERER®

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 HEEKREZE @)
(b)  Credit risk (continued) b) EERE #E
(i) Impairment of financial assets (continued) () ZHEERE @)
Trade and bills receivables and contract B SN SRIE R ENEE
assets (continued) MEHEE &
Non-credit- Credit-
impaired impaired Total
EERE EERE st
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000

T T T

Movements in the net SHNBEEREBERE
impairment losses for RRE )

contract assets

At 1 January 2023 20235181H 1,054 120 1,174
(Decrease)/Increase FRREBERERN

in loss allowance IR Gl

recognised in profit or A0

loss during the year (517) 1,184 667
Exchange difference fEREER (25) (10) (35)
At 31 December 2023 $%2023%12H31H 512 1,294 1,806
At 1 January 2024 220241818 512 1,294 1,806

Increase in loss allowance  FRRIBTESEHN
recognised in profit or loss K538 B 12N

during the year 1,384 - 1,384
Exchange difference bE R (43) (43) (86)
At 31 December 2024 1%2024512H31H 1,853 1,251 3,104
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Trade and bills receivables and contract
assets (continued)

Trade and bills receivables and contract
assets are written off where there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery.
Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst
others, the failure of a debtor to engage
in a repayment plan with the Group, and a
failure to make contractual payments.

Impairment losses on trade and bills
receivables and contract assets are
presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

The Group considers the credit risk of other
receivables is insignificant when they have
a low risk of default and the issuer has a
strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term,
and the impairment losses recognised is
therefore limited to 12 months ECL. In view
of insignificant risk of default and credit
risk since initial recognition, the ECL under
the 12 months expected losses method is
considered to be insignificant.

While cash and cash equivalents are also
subject to the impairment requirements of
HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was
insignificant.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

3.

RATS R MIEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Individual subsidiaries within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management,
including the raising of loans to cover the
expected cash demands. The Group's policy is to
regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed
funding lines from major financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

The following table details the remaining
contractual maturities at the end of the reporting
period of the Group's financial liabilities, which are
based on contractual undiscounted cash flows
(including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates
current at the end of the reporting period) and
the earliest date the Group can be required to

pay.

3.

HHEREEIE @

31 MBRBRER @

(c)

TEE LA

FEBRNENNBAREESR
SR ER OEEEEMU
FETREARIRE R R - AEE
TEBUR & B RIR R M TR
RBETBRARHEEERZAR
BTIRR UHEFRAERERT
RHREFHERETZERMLE
AETENRERE  LUREH
kRSB ESR K

TERFITEETRAEEN RS
HARBRER SN EEER  ThE
REMRERREERE (BEU
BR R (HAFEBAER) R
SHARVRITH RSB EN
) RAEEN A NHNRFEH
Hio

Weighted  On demand Between Total
average or within 2and  contractual Carrying
interest rate 1 year 5years  cash flows amount
Contractual maturities of EHBRAL g FEEX BHRE
financial liabilities HIHER FHHE FR-FR WERE  RERE fREfE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TET TET TAT TAT
2024 20245
Non-derivative financial liabilities JEfT£2REE
Trade and other payables B REMERNZE - 148,934 - 148,934 148,934
Amount due to the immediate ENERERAR
holding company HIE - 21,066 - 21,066 21,066
Lease liabilities EAaB 5.38% 2,612 1,545 4,157 3,959
172,612 1,545 174,157 173,959
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rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea) 3.
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Weighted

average

interest rate

Contractual maturities of ERBRAN T
financial liabilities SEER i
%

%

MHBRRER @

3 MBRBRER @
© FEEZEE (&
On demand Between Total
or within 2and  contractual Carrying
1 year 5 years cash flows amount
BEX BHARE

IR—FR WMERE RERE REE

HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TET TER TER TER

2023 20235
Non-derivative financial liabilities JEfT4£2RBE

Trade and other payables BEREMENTIE = 62,138 = 62,138 62,138
Amount due to the immediate ENEEERAT
holding company 4 - 31,993 - 31,993 31,993
Lease liabilities HEEB 5.38% 4021 3314 7335 6,986
98,152 3314 101,466 101,117
3.2 Capital risk management 32 EBXEBERE

The Group's primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern in order to fund its business,
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes the lease liabilities disclosed in Note 16,
net of cash and bank balances and equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising share capital and
reserves.

FEREEEANEIZERARES
EEFBEENESN  UREEBR
HES HREREHLER RS HEAE
m AR @ W REERRE
LR/ DB Al o

FEBNEARRBEEER TR (B
MistiePRiKBHEE AR  HRHEE
FRARTTHEBRA RSN A B HER ABILE
i (BER AR #H) o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E12831 BIEEE

3.

3.2

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. HBRAKERE®w
Capital risk management (continued) 32 EBEXEREE @
The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages AEBBERILERBT REEEER
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the R UERSBEEKFERES KR
higher shareholder returns that might be possible with BRELRAZRERRTAAERD
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and BE R RE 2 BEE F 6 1 FEL
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes AR H E AR EH A o
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes
in economic conditions.
The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of AEB K ARER FENERIEE
an adjusted net debt-to-equity ratio. For this purpose, ERHERRE BT S K REE
adjusted net debt is defined as total debt (which PRI RE A BHRREE (BETRE
includes interest bearing loans and borrowings, and AR EHRURBEESR) MRS MIRTT
lease liabilities) less cash and bank balances. Total equity EER o MRMBBEOEARNBEE ANE
comprises all components of equity attributable to N BARE D - B FEEY
owners of the Company. The net debt to equity ratio EmEEENT
was as follows:
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET TFET
Lease liabilities HEAaE 3,959 6,986
Amount due to immediate Bt BZERABMIAE
holding company 21,066 31,993
Less: Cash and bank balances A IRERIRTTERR (42,226) (46,551)
Net debt BEPER (17,201) (7,572)
Total equity attributable to RABIHE NELERREE
owners of the Company 113,603 111,514
Net debt to equity ratio BEFENERILE (15%) (7%)
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rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2

33

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

Capital risk management (continued)

During the year, the Group's strategy was to maintain
the adjusted net debt-to-equity ratio at a reasonable
level, not exceeding 50% (2023: 50%). In order to
maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new
shares, raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce
debt.

The Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (the “Government”) requires contractors on
the list of approved contractors for public works (the
“List”) to maintain certain minimum working capital as
the Government may from time to time determine (the
“Required Minimum Working Capital”). A subsidiary
of the Company is subject to the Required Minimum
Working Capital as the subsidiary is a contractor on
the List. Except for this, neither the Company nor its
subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.

Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair values.

3.

MHBRRER @

3.2

33

BEXxRBEE (@

F AEBRREKE AR KRE
B FENERIEREFTESIEK
I BDAREBIB50% (20234 1 50%) o 24
R BEZILE  REE AR EIK
NFRENRESRE BITHRMD S
BN EEHERNHEESELUR VA
F5o

BEEFIITHEBN (THA) X
RIS AHTREARERM (T4
) NAREEFHBTAREERN
ETREZEES (EERBEESR
&) o AAB—REWEAEHAB LM
EREREZEMRIEERBEEELRMR
IR o BRIELUSN ) KRB R EWB AT
BARZINERFENNRYE AR TE P ARIR ©

AT

iR G B LR P R PR A B B 2 R
BEERTHEBEZRAERZAEZE
ZRFERE
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Notes to the Consplidated Financial Statements
e HRERMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires
the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will
seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs
to exercise judgement in applying the Group's accounting
policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact
on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

(a) Revenue from construction contracts

Management measures the value of completed
construction work based on output method, which
is to recognise revenue on the basis of measurement
of the value of services transferred to the customers.
Management's estimate of the progress of construction
works requires significant judgement and has a
significant impact on the amount and timing of revenue
recognised.

Management has periodically measured the value of
the construction work completed for each construction
project based on certification performed by architects,
surveyors or other representatives appointed by the
customers and estimated the value of work which is
completed but yet to be certified at each of the end
of reporting period. Management estimated the value
of work which is completed but yet to be certified
based on surveys carried out by internal technicians
or external expert, and revisited with reference to
certification subsequently performed by architects,
surveyors or other representatives appointed by
the customers or confirmations received from the
customers. The Group regularly reviews and revises
the estimation of construction contract progresses
whenever there is any change in circumstances. As at
31 December 2024 and 2023, the value of work which is
completed but yet to be certified was disclosed in Note
21.
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ERRBERABRTRASBEEZHREKSE
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(@ REBRESHNWKE

EEERBERLAFTEBETHERT
BEHEE NEREEETERR
HEENFEED WD BEE MG
BREIENEERBEZEHERFE
WHEBR@mNERERFEAEEARR
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BEBENRELEENERM A2
g E MR HENEREERAES
BEEBERCERERTIRENEE:
A 517 = 3R 5 HA R B ST A 18] R 33
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rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

4. CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

(b)

(c)

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

Impairment of trade and bills receivables and
contract assets

The loss allowances for trade and bills receivables and
contract assets are based on assumptions about risk
of default and expected loss rates. Management uses
judgement in making these assumptions and selecting
the inputs to the calculation of expected credit losses,
based on the Group's past history and existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at
the end of each reporting period. Details of the key
assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in Note
3.1(b).

Impairment of goodwill

Management tests whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment on an annual basis. The recoverable amount
of cash-generating units ("“CGUs") was determined
based on value-in-use calculations which require the
use of assumptions. The calculations use cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period. Cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using
the estimated growth rates stated in Note 17. No
impairment is recognised during the year (2023: same).
Details of the recoverable amount calculations are
disclosed in Note 17.

4.

R B2 it 51 Be FI Ef 0

(b)

(c)

EZREREREBREERSNEE
BYR{E

R RWHRERBBEBERENEE
EREGHENDENABENRR KA
FEERERNRERFH - RNEREHRE
ERRBEFEBNBREELRIRET
AT BRFIEFHEE
BREEEFERAEEBENEA
HE-FTANIERRABAREZ
SFIBIR BN MEE3 (o)

EERE

CEESFAHNBERTHIRTMAR
B-ReEsSu ((REEEE M)
HAWEsELEREREETEE
EETEEERARR -EHEME
BIREREEA BEBRINILERE
HEEi#ERERFHENEHEEE
HeoRFEHBZENRESRENDER
M1 7F i st IR R B E B H - F
PR R ARE (202345 ¢ AR ©
AR El S BN HRE BB
170
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRERMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E12831 BIEEE

REVENUE

An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows:

5. W=

FEEFAWAIDHIT -

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TFHET TET
Revenue from construction contracts RERESONWE
- renewable energy systems — A BERERE B, 498,456 331,815
— sales of parts —HEZ M 29,779 =
E-commerce-related services B F i 518 AR TS 27,757 12,033
Building information modelling services EEEBEER 1,422 1,291
Revenue from contracts with customers FEELESHNE 557,414 345,139
Rental income HEUWA 644 708
558,058 345,847
Other than e-commerce-related services and sales of parts MRETFEEEERBEREESHGNRE—
which was recognised at a point in time, all the Group’s BFE LSRN REBPTAEREREL AW
revenue from contracts with customers were recognised over i P S [ FE T o
time.
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Notes to the Consplidated Financial Statements
eI MIET

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses by business lines in
a manner consistent with the way in which information
is reported internally to the CODM, for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment. The Group's
reportable and operating segments are as follows:

1. Renewable energy business: provision of construction
service of renewable energy systems (e.g. solar power
systems and wind power systems) and rental income
from lease of solar power system in the People Republic
of China (the "PRC"); sales of parts relating to renewable
energy business to customers in PRC

2. E-commerce business: provision of online merchant-
related service in the PRC

3. Others: building information modelling service in the
PRC

Segment results represent the loss before income tax from
each segment except for the unallocated corporate expenses.

Segment assets include all current and non-current assets
with the exception of deferred tax assets, financial assets
and other corporate assets. Segment liabilities include all
current and non-current liabilities with the exception of other
corporate liabilities.

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

DEER

AEBEBREBREERER  KRAEAR/ DR
BERkFGEFRRMAEELERRENI
BEEMDA R -AEENA 2RKAEE
DEBEAE -

1. ABEERES  RHEARHENE
(TehE) YT B AR REB W (WX
% AE 3% BBk K2 B 1) 35 BB uh) $R (H AR SR AR
BREEXRGEEBINESIA ;
MR EFHER BEERERE
Eak=iies

2. BFBEHES ATEREHELEHR
iElealilers

3. Ht: EhERHERE SRR

DEBEEIE R D WMIRFTSRAIEGR T &
ROECABFZ

DEEECVREFMARBRIFRBEE T
BEEEREEE SREERAMATE
E-NHBREEMBERBKIFABAR:
A EEREMATAaR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. EPER @
Information regarding the Group's reportable segments as AERNERD B &2 ERIBA G MR H
provided to CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and F* ERRENAEEBTERDEIE
assessment of segment performance for the year is set out BISIRET
below:
Renewable
energy E-commerce
business business Others Unallocated Total
Bk BFEH
ERER % Hft KRR Ly
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TiEx TERT TR TER
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE2014F12B31HILERE
Segment revenue PEE 528,879 27,757 1,422 - 558,058
Segment profit/(loss) PEER /(BB 8,165 (7,665) 509 (23,252) (22,283)
Income tax expense FERES (4,264)
Loss for the year FEFE (26,507)
Other information (included in measure ~ E1Z# Gt A2
of segment profit/(loss)) A/ (518) 3t &)
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE0u4F12831HILEE
Interest expenses FERY 210 - 1 85 296
Depreciation for the year FRITE 1,547 - 4 1,430 3,018
Net impairment losses on trade and BARBTERENZER
bills receivables and contract assets BNEEREFERE 6,070 - - - 6,070
Interest income FIBA (170) - = (39) (209)
Additions to non-current segment assets*  JERBDFEERE - - - 370 370
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eI MIET

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEEE @
Renewable
energy E-commerce
business business Others Unallocated Total
BEES ETEE
EREH £% ity KNE st
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
T TR T TiEn TER
For the year ended 31 December 2023 #E2023F12831HLEE
Segment revenue A 332523 12033 1,291 = 345,847
Segment profit/(loss) DEER/(E58) 13,925 33% (4,339) (30,684) (20761)
Income tax expense RS (1,888)
Loss for the year FEFR (22,649)

Other information (included in measure ~ E#ER (Gt AR L
of segment profit/(loss)) A/ (F18) 5t 8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #E2023F12831HLLEE

Interest expenses FEBR 840 _ 2 127 969
Depreciation for the year FRNE 2798 = 125 1505 4428
Net impairment losses on trade and BRERTERERZER

bills receivables and contract assets BNEEREBERIR 1867 1,662 = = 3529
Interest income FIEBA (39) - = (34) (73)
Additions to non-current segment assets* ERHBEERE* S S = 2107 2,107
2 Other than financial assets and deferred tax asset i B ERRERIBEE ERI

146 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited = JEE (EIB2) #2884 lRA8  Annual Report 2024 £33



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=D
w3

RATS R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E12831 BIEEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities

6. DEEF ©

PWEERER

TR HRA2RDHEDNEEEEE

by reportable segments: VS4=N=(:apiun
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET FET
Segment assets DEEE
Renewable energy business ABEERERER 353,510 207,267
E-commerce business EFEBER 17,720 6,333
Others Hih 13,813 10,235
385,043 223,835
Unallocated assets ROEEE 23,793 29,631
Deferred tax assets RIEMIBEE 3,225 5,921
Consolidated assets HAEEE 412,061 259,387
Segment liabilities aHEaE
Renewable energy business AIREERER 258,150 111,886
E-commerce business EFEHER 22,433 3,433
Others Hth 1,633 2,384
282,216 117,703
Unallocated liabilities e AN P = 24,693 37,273
Consolidated liabilities meaE 306,909 154,976
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Entity-wide information
Geographical information

The Group's operations are mainly located in Hong Kong and
the PRC.

The following tables set out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue and (i) the
Group's property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and goodwill (“Specified Non-Current Assets”).

The geographical location of revenue is based on the location
at which the services were provided or the goods delivered.
The geographical location of the Specified Non-Current Assets
is based on the physical location of the assets, in the case of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets, and
the location of the operation to which they are allocated, in
the case of goodwill.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

DEER @)
EREEEER
HEEH

FEENESTBZUNEBRTE-

TEREHE RO EE W m KA E Y
X BEAREB EAREEREE (BE
IERBEE)) PIHIEUEE K -

Wm BN ERERREHRBNZGEY
MUEME - FEFNBEEMEUERR
REENBRMUE GLYE - -BRERREU
REAEEEMS) URBEEDEHNEE
EE GEEEMS) ME -

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FTET
Revenue: s .

The PRC F 558,058 345,847
Consolidated total et 558,058 345,847

Specified non-current assets: {5 EIERMEBEE ©
Hong Kong &8 1,688 2,080
The PRC H 25,725 28,792
27,413 30,872
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Entity-wide information (continued)
Information about major customers

During the year, revenue from customers contributing over

DEER @)
EREEEEE (&)

TEEREH

FR REEMFTERBREBE0%9E

10% of the total revenue of the Group is as follows: P& -
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET AT
Renewable energy AREEREREDE
business segment
Customer A' ZEEA 179,715 300,264
Customer B’ ZEB 272,991 N/A# A8 B #

! The revenue was derived from renewable energy business

segment.

. The customer did not contribute over 10% of total revenue of

the Group during the relevant year.

‘ RE R BERERER D MOV

’ ZE PN AR EE NS S R A E AU

THBIB10%

Annual Report 2024 €38 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited F3 X @ (B ) =R AR A S

149



150

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

7. OTHER INCOME 7. HfthgA

2024 2023
20244 20234
HKS$'000 HKS'000
F#ET FET
Bank interest income RITH BULA 209 73
Government grants (Note) BT #80 (M5E) 412 460
Others Hith 675 15
1,296 548

Note: MI5E -

Government grants included receipts of Employment Support
Scheme from Hong Kong government and electricity subsidy
from local government in the PRC of approximately HKSNil and
HK$412,000 (2023: HK$21,000 and HK$439,000) respectively. There are
no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching to these
grants.

BB 8iE S BB MR 2 st 8l W
B RS BAWEINE DA DB AN ET
T2412,0005 75 ( 20234F & 21,0007 7T K2 439,000
70) o s BN M A R ARV S E 3
REIFo
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

8. EXPENSES BY NATURE

8. HMHITHMANZ

2024 2023

20245 20234

HKS$'000 HKS$'000

FET AT

Accrued cost to subcontractor FEst D B R A 480,230 315,742

Cost of inventories sold BEEFEMA 37,913 4,043
Employee benefit expenses BIRMNMASZ (BFESH)

(including directors' emoluments)  (Fz¥9)

(Note 9) 13,833 14,639
Depreciation e

— Property, plant and equipment  —4#J% R &R 189 337

— Right-of-use assets —FREEEE 2,829 4,091
Loss on settlement arrangement 45 E ZBEE5 18 (MI5E28(b))

(Note 28(b)) 4,335 -
Legal and professional fees ERREXEER 1,098 5416
Auditor's remuneration 1% 85 B 25 AN 1,800 2,050
Marketing services fee SHRBEE 18,666 =
Platform services fee TERBE 280 142
Other expenses Hhpax% 14,058 16,198
Total cost of revenue, selling and Wz AL S ~ #5 6 K (T BB S AR ZA

administrative expenses 575,231 362,658
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N

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9. ERERFMAX (BIFEFFHM)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS)
2024 2023
20244 20234
HKS$'000 HKS$'000
THET FET
Wages, salaries and bonuses ITE -FisKk{E4a 12,753 13,245
Pension costs — defined BARERE—TERE
contributions plan s E 291 377
Others Hih 789 1,017
13,833 14,639
Amount included in cost of AU T B A RIS
revenue - =
Amount included in sellingand Bt AIHE RITEHZBIFIE
administrative expense 13,833 14,639
13,833 14,639
Five highest paid individuals TEmEHAL

FRFEEFHNESNLRALEE=S
(2023F : =%) EF  HFMERRR
M EE20PR Y DT R« EREN T HEFW B

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year include three (2023: three) directors
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in

152

Note 29. The emoluments payable to the remaining two
(2023: two) individuals during the year are as follows:

(2023%F : M%) A ARIFRENGOT -

2024 2023

20244 20234

HKS$'000 HKS'000

FET FET

Salaries and allowances E e o= 2,180 1,708
Pension cost — defined BIREBR A —TEE

contributions plan TG 2 36 32

2,216 1,740
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

9. EERMRAX(BIFEESRFHFM @

(INCLUDING DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS)

(continued)

Five highest paid individuals (continued)

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the

following bands are as follows:

hiasEHAL &

S EENARMT :

Number of employees

WIIARBESFBHFMNF NI EENR

BEAZ
2024 2023
20244 20234
Nil to HK$1,000,000 T Z1,000,0005 75 1 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,00178 75 & 1,500,00078 75 1 1
2 2

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BAFERL 7S

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEEaENE 197 282
Interest on bills TR S 99 687
296 969
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1. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Pursuant to the enactment of two-tiered profits tax rates
by the Inland Revenue Department of Hong Kong, the
Group's first HKS2 million of assessable profits under Hong
Kong profits tax is subject to tax rate of 8.25%. The Group's
remaining assessable profits above HKS2 million will continue
to be subject to a tax rate of 16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on Corporate Income Tax (the “CIT
Law") and Implementation Regulation of the CIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

No provision for income tax expense outside Hong Kong and
the PRC has been made as the Group's subsidiaries outside
Hong Kong and the PRC either did not have assessable profits
or have tax credits in excess of assessable profits during the
year in the relevant jurisdiction.

The amount of income tax expense represents:

Notes to the Consplidated Financial Statements
eI MIET

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

1. FRfI

RIEEBRBRHERNWARBIFFRIRE
FEEARBEEENERAE2EZBTE
SRIE N ZTR I8 2504417 « A E B A RLEB A
2E BB ITTBIER TSRS R FL AR Z16 5%
Ao

RiFPE S ZEMERZE ((EEMRERZED) &
EMEREEHAE  DERBATKRE
2325% 0

HREREEEETBRPEBINHEL
B AR E A EE EE RIS N
BBHERRNGNWNERR  MABME
B R PEIRINIFT SIS (F B o

PRSI BIBERLE ¢

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET AT
Current income tax — BEAPR1SHR —
Hong Kong profit tax HBHER
Over-provision in prior year BEFEBREEE - -
Current income tax — BEAPR1SHR —
the PRC corporate income tax FE RS R
Provision for the year FREEH 1,670 6,379
1,670 6,379
Deferred income tax (Note 23) EIEFTISHR (BP5E23) 2,594 (4,491)
4,264 1,888
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E12831 BIEEE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 1. PR @

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to GeEmkEMEERGERPRISERA

the loss before income tax per the consolidated statement of

profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

BIEEFEMSRAS ZHIRINT

2024 2023
20245 20234
HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FET
Loss before income tax FRPTSIRBIES 1B (22,243) (20,761)
Tax calculated at domestic tax B AN EEBE R EEN
rates applicable to loss in the AR RSB HIRIE
respective countries (4,079) (3,346)
Expenses not deductible for ENGIE Y
tax purpose 4,980 3,468
Tax effect on temporary RN E R EZE
differences not recognised M2 - (183)
Tax loss not recognised RIERNIEEIE 3,363 2314
Tax losses previously recognised — StAl B K # ORI R I8R5 18
and reversed - (365)
Income tax expense FriSiR B 4,264 1,888
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

12. LOSS PER SHARE

The basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

12. EkEIE

BREXNEEDRERNETRBES AEMNL
BEFUBE BT EERIINEFIO#EE -

2024 2023
20245 20234
Loss attributable to owners of the ZN AT B AELEE
Company (in HK$'000) (F#ET (23,810) (21,600)
Weighted average number of FTEEREAREEEEN
ordinary shares for the purpose & BRI FHE (F)
of basic and diluted loss
per share (in thousands) 919,645 763,296
Basic loss per share SREAREIE
(HK cents per share) (BILERR) (2.59) (2.83)

Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share as
there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding
during the year (2023: same).

13. DIVIDENDS

No dividends were paid, declared or proposed for both years,
nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period.

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

HAFERLEFITENNEETRESEBER
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13. I8

P AE F B R S s BIRESEZ R AR
BoMEBRSHREREZZ KT EAR

o

5
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E12831 BIEEE

14. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

14. ZABREEMBABFE

Place of incorporation/operation

Particulars of issued

Effective economic
interest held by the

Name of entity and kind of legal entity Principal activities share capital Group
SR EEMB R r}%ﬁﬁﬁ‘
BB AR ERER TEEH BRARAHE RIRAEAT
2024 2023
2024F 203F
Zhejiang Zhonghong Shunlian The PRC, limited liability company E-commerce-related services il 51% 51%
Internet Technology Co, Ltd HE BREFAT EFHHEMR% b
(TR IR 4R R
ﬁ[{ﬁ@aj)m&m
Shenzhen CT Vision Investment The PRC, limited liability company Investment holding Nil 100% 100%
Holdings Limited HED BREEAT REZR z
(MR REEREER
E[‘E/I}EJ) m&Q
Sichuan Yafei Engineering Design The PRC, limited liability company Construction and engineering  Nil 100% 100%
Co, Ltd (TMEIER T2 &S TR EREEAT BERIRE z
BRAR) 060
Nanjing CT Vision Smart City The PRC, limited liability company Building information modelling RMB16,230,252 51% 51%
Technology Limited HED BREEAT services issued share capital
(ARPREEEENST BEERRURH AE16,2302527%
BRBMAF)) 00 BEITRA
Nanjing Hengyihui New Energy The PRC, limited liability company Leasing of solar power system  RMB630,000 100% 100%
Technology Co, Ltd HE BREEAR HEKRGEZEL issued share capital
(MR R AR AR #630,0007
BIRAR) e BEITRA
(1) This subsidiary is registered as an enterprise of invested/ M AWEBASRBEFEZEFMABAA
controlled by natural persons under the PRC Law. BE TERE
(2)  The English name for the PRC subsidiaries is for identification (2 FENBABMNEXATBERHA
purposes only.
(3)  The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 (3) EFRIER2024F 12831 BEERERE

December 2024 which principally affected the results or assets
of the Group. Management is of the opinion that to give details
of other subsidiaries would result in particulars of excessive
length. None of the Company’s subsidiaries had issued any
debt securities at year end.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. ME--BERRE

Solar Furniture,
power and Motor Office

system fixtures vehicles  equipment Total

K5 RAR WAZE

BEL RE RE B Mt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FTAT TAT TAT TAT TAT
At 1 January 2023 120231818
Cost 3% 1204 680 178 568 2,650
Accumulated depreciation REHNE (244) (451) (20) (346) (1,061)
Net book amount IREFE 980 229 158 22 1,589
Year ended 31 December HF2023%F 128310

2023 ILEE
Opening net book amount FREFE 980 229 158 2 1,589
Depreciation charge (Note 8) WEXH (fizks) (60) (132) (10) (135) (337)
Exchange differences ERESE (26) 2) 5 (5) (33)
Closing net book amount ERIFEFE 894 95 148 82 1219
At 31 December 2023 1420235128318
Cost 3% 1,191 672 178 553 2,59
Accumulated depreciation REHINE (297) (577) (30) 47) (1,375)
Net book amount RERE 894 9 148 82 1219
Year ended 31 December HZE2024%128310
2024 LLEE

Opening net book amount EVREFE 894 95 148 82 1,219
Additions HE - 19 - 6 25
Depreciation charge (Note 8) MESH (Hiss) (60) (72) (11) (46) (189)
Exchange differences ERERE (26) )] = (5) (33)
Closing net book amount FRIEEFE 808 40 137 37 1,022
At 31 December 2024 1420245128318
Cost A 1,167 660 178 536 2,541
Accumulated depreciation REHNE (359) (620) (41) (499) (1,519)
Net book amount REFE 808 40 137 37 1,022

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E12831 BIEEE

16. LEASES

This note provides information for leases where the Group is a
lessee.

(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position

16. THE

AWERHAEBFARBAZEAEZE

(a)

RSB R R ZRIE

The consolidated statement of financial position shows REMBRRARIITEEERRNE
the following amounts relating to leases: REUIH -
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET TFET
Right-of-use assets FEREEE
Properties LS 2,638 4,633
Solar power system KPR EEEE B L 3,287 3,612
Motor vehicles RE 208 465
6,133 8,710
Lease liabilities HEas
Current R EA 2,488 3,830
Non-current JEBNHR 1,471 3,156
3,959 6,986
As a lessee EAAFAN

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year were
HK$345,000 (2023: HKS$2,107,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the lease liabilities of solar
power system was secured by:

trade receivables of approximately HK$45,000
(2023: HK$126,000);

ii. registered capital of a wholly-owned subsidiary
amounting to RMB10,000,000 (2023: same); and

iii. a guarantee by the wholly-owned subsidiary in
(i) above and Dr. Ho Chun Kit Gregory ("Dr. Ho")
(2023: same).

FERRNEFREE E 53450008 7T
(20234F @ 2,107,0005&7T) ©

72024512831 H > KIS B UL AR
EaEU TS BEELR

B 57 FE R ERIE 445,000/ 7T (2023
£ 1 126,000 7T) ;

2EMNBATNGEMESARK
10,000,0007T (20234 : #8[E) ; &

a2 ENR B A kAEE
gL (ML) BEMNER
(2023%F : 48F) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
eI MIET

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

16. LEASES (continued) 16. HE @
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement (b) MiESHEZEREMEEBGERERZ
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income =%

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other FEEmkEMEERGERY)REE
comprehensive income show the following amounts EEFNSEENT -

related to leases:

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes HK$'000 HKS$'000
Mi5E FET AT
Depreciation charge of FRAEEERESZH
right-of-use assets
Properties LY/ES 2,276 3,535
Solar power system KZpESE Bk 243 246
Motor vehicles RE 310 310
8 2,829 4,091
Interest expense FMEMZ
(included in finance cost) GPNZEIEN) 10 197 282
Expense relating to short-  E25ZHATAE A RN
term leases (included B (BT AU A R
in cost of revenue and HE RITERS)
selling and administrative
expenses) - 82
Sub-lease income DHEUA 644 708
The total cash outflow for leases for the year was AEEMRHEEENRERELREN
approximately HK$3,421,000 (2023: HK$4,831,000). #33,421,00078 75 (20234 : 4,831,00078

e, ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRERMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

16. LEASES (continued) 16. #HE @

(c) The Group’s leasing activities and how these are (0 ZAEEMNEEFEREARAR
accounted for
The Group leases various properties, solar power system AEBHELEYE  KIGEZEIL
and motor vehicles. Rental contracts are typically made KRB -HEANBERRIEER20EN
for fixed periods of 1 year to 20 years. EEBAFRET L °
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and HERRHEERE BEg3&ER
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. BRI G o BB APRAEME
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants EEENRFERIN HEBERIE
other than the security interests in the leased assets that MERRZN -HEEERERIEER
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used R MR PZRE S BULFRIM o
as security for borrowing purposes, except for the solar
power system.
The Group sub-leases the solar power system under AEBRBELSHEDHEKGEEZS
an operating lease. Lease terms are negotiated on e AEERHEREE BEaRE
an individual basis and contain different terms and BN B A8 o
conditions.

(d) Variable lease payments d) FIEEEHR

The sublease of solar power system in the PRC contain
variable payment terms that linked to power usage
by the lessee. Variable lease payments that depend
on the power usage are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which the condition that triggers those
payments occurs.

Annual Report 2024 &R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ik @

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

17.

GOODWILL 17. B2
HK$'000
FAET
Cost s
At 1 January 2023 20231 B1H 23,355
Exchange difference FERE%R (2412)
At 31 December 2023 72023 12831H 20,943
Exchange difference ERERR (685)
At 31 December 2024 12024 12831H 20,258
Accumulated impairment losses REHRERE
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and 202318 1H ~2023F12831H K
31 December 2024 20247 12831H -
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2024 12024 12831H 20,258
At 31 December 2023 72023F12831H 20,943

Goodwill acquired through business combination is allocated
to the CGU, “provision of construction service of renewable
energy system in the PRC’, that is expected to benefit from the
business combination.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based
on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash
flow projections based on financial forecasts approved by
management covering a period of five years. Cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using an
estimated growth rate of 2% (2023: 2%). The cash flows are
discounted using a discount rate of 25% (2023: 25%), which
reflects specific risks relating to the CGU.

In view of the fact that the recoverable amount exceeds the
carrying amount of the above CGU, there is no impairment of
goodwill allocated to the above CGU during the year (2023:
same).

Management is of the opinion that any reasonably possible

change in any of these assumptions would not have resulted
in an impairment write-down in the CGU.

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F
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1o

REEXBUNYTREEENIZERERE
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HEN AR EEANIRSRTER - A%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

18. IR D ZEMIA

2024 2023
20244 20234
HKS$'000 HKS'000
F#ET FET
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at amortised cost: BEIER AT R 2
THMEE
Trade and bills receivables, deposits and £ 5 FEUS 1B & FEUR 4 ~
other receivables B K H i FE U IE 222,915 90,644
Cash and bank balances BT MIRITHER 42,226 46,551
265,141 137,195
Financial liabilities ERaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: BEER AR
THEaRE:
Trade and other payables B 5 R E MR (148,934) (62,138)
Amount due to the immediate BN BEZEERATZIE
holding company (21,066) (31,993)
Lease liabilities HEaR (3,959) (6,986)
(173,959) (101,117)
The Group's exposure to various risks associated with the AEBEMAEESM T ABMNSERR

financial instruments is disclosed in Note 3.1. The maximum
exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the

carrying amount of each class of financial assets mentioned

above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
eI MIET

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

19.

20.

INVENTORY 19. &8
2024 2023
20244F 20234
HKS$’000 HKS'000
FHBT T
Finished goods B R 2,564 934
TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES, 20. B EWFERERER 1%

DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES B EfthFEURTRIE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Trade and bills receivables B 5 EW R TE & EW 205,349 75,170
Loss allowance (Note 3.1(b)) EE1EEE (HEE3.1() (11,235) (6,855)
194,114 68,315
Deposits e 1,239 1,385
Prepayments TETRIE 15,540 5,144
Other receivables Hh U Ia 27,562 20,579
44,341 27,108
238,455 95,423

Less: Amounts due within one year B ORBEEEBE TR

shown under current assets —FE RN R AR FRIE (237,216) (94,038)
Non-current portion JERNHAER 7 1,239 1,385
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)

The Group's credit terms granted to customers range from 0
to 60 days.

As at the end of reporting period, the ageing analysis of the
trade and bills receivables (net of loss allowance), based on
date of invoice, were as follows:

20. B RWFVEREWEE - #E
B EL{thFEUWRFRIE (&)

FERRTERHNEEHRN FOREORK -

RIREHR > BN ERBHNE ZBUGRR
BRI GNFRES R ) FIERE DT
LI

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Up to 1 month KEEPA 4,702 5,720
1 to 2 months 1228 30,573 19,327
2 to 3 months 2E3E B 44,659 2,841
3 to 6 months EE B! 30,915 1,163
Over 6 months GENE 83,265 39,264
194,114 68,315

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their
carrying amount is considered to be the same as their fair
value. Note 3.1(b) set out information about the impairment
of financial assets and contract assets and the Group's
exposure to credit risk.

The carrying amounts of the trade and bills receivables,
deposits and other receivables are denominated in the
following currencies:

FRBEAME R IERY RS HAME B 078 - HERME
BERGBEEAFERR - WEIbHER
HEMEERGNEERERSTEBFTA
BEERBRNER -

B 5 BIRIAR BINRE s R E MK
IRRIREE THIEHEHE !

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$'000 HKS$'000

FET FET

HKS BT 720 739
RMB AR 237,735 94,684
238,455 95,423
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
eI MIET

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

21. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 21. BHNEERGHNER
LIABILITIES
The Group has recognised the following assets and liabilities AEECEITIEERFENEMCZEE
related to contracts with customers: RE&E:
2024 2023
20245 20234
HKS$'000 HKS$'000
THET FET
Contract assets relating to M TRIERREZ
BHNEE
- renewable energy business — A BERERER 101,282 81,492
Loss allowance (Note 3.1(b)) BEEEEMTEE3 1) (3,104) (1,806)
98,178 79,686
Contract liabilities relating to M TRIERBEZ
BHEE
— renewable energy business — A BEERER 32,938 454
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E12831 BIEEE

21. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continuea)

(a) Significant changes in contract assets and liabilities (a)

Contract assets represent the Group's rights to
considerations from customers for the provision of
construction services, which arise when: (i) the Group
completed the relevant services under such contracts
but the works are yet to be certified by architects,
surveyors or other representatives appointed by the
customers; or (ii) the customers withhold certain
certified amounts payable to the Group as retention
money to secure the due performance of the contracts.
The terms and conditions in relation to the release
of retention vary from contract to contract and the
retention period generally ranged from six months to
twelve months. The Group does not hold any collateral BE P ZERVEEE A S H i
as security. Any amount previously recognised as a RRIZEE Je il 7 AR (B R man
contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables at the
point at which it is certified by architects, surveyors or
other representatives appointed by the customers and
becomes unconditional other than passage of time.

21. GHNEERGHEE @

BHEERBRNEXED

RRENHNEZFR

BRIN EF DR EE FEUGRIE

AR e

The change in contract assets is related to the work
in progress performed by the Group but is yet to be
certified and the release status of retention monies

throughout the year.

As at 31 December 2024, retention receivables of
approximately HK$23,839,000 (2023: HK$23,
was included in the contract assets as stated above.
They were classified as current assets based on

177,000)

GNEERRFTEERATFRHER
ERF M A E P WE A ERIER %
FEAPNUATERTEE [0FEER
BZEENSTHAERRS  BETRH
RERELZERREEN R EmMN
HMARZE ; WFLABEAA
EENETEZENTREFARES
17 - A RARFR IR
BEMRARFEESEOME
FHBEENFANMERE+ @R &
SR ESARBIFRENRERR %
A A e NEENERASEERHE

BEENSHEAEBETHERRZ
BHERTRERFARESERE

20245128310 Lt EHEETE
B #923,839,00078 7T (20234F : 23,177,000
B NERREBS ILERNRE S
REKEHEBRIEAREBEE &

operating cycle. The ageing of the retention receivables, RS HEAR IR BB & EREC 7D
based on the date of certificate, are as follows: a0

2024 2023
20245 20234
HKS$'000 HKS'000
FET FET
Within 1 year 1FER 13,748 4,635
Over 1 year T E 10,091 18,542
23,839 23077
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4o A

Wik 3

RATS R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

21. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

(a)

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

Significant changes in contract assets and liabilities
(continued)

The retention receivables were expected to be
recovered as follows:

21. BHNBEERGNEE @

B

(@

BHEERBRNEXRED (B

FEWIREE & FRHERR A 90 S AR UR (]

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Within 1 year 1R 23,839 =
Over 1 year TEM - 23,177
23,839 23,177

Contract liabilities are classified as current as they
are expected to be settled within the Group’s normal
operating cycle.

The balance of contract liabilities has increased mainly
due to the increase in deposit received in advance of
construction contracts. When the Group receives a
deposit before the construction activity commences,
this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of
a contract, the deposit will set off against contract
assets and/or progress billings in the later stage. The
Group typically receives certain percentage of deposit
before construction work commences. Deposits may
be forfeited if construction contract is cancelled by the
customer.

BT ERFN ES S BRGNS
GHRE WMESBRARF-

BHEEERIENMNEIERRAAESR
BHRAKRREEN - EXEENER
BB R ATUREIR S > BIE R IS B4
it EEGHNAE RERERE
BHEENEER REENR K&
E—RENEEIREBBRIWEET
BT - HERBHRRGA
Az rIAEERIR UL -
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rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E12831 BIEEE

21. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 21. BHEERGHNERE @
LIABILITIES (continued)
(b) Revenue recognised in relation to contract (b) WMENEEETRE
liabilities
The following table shows how much of the revenue TEREIIN AR S AR PTER U E
recognised in the current reporting period relates BEESNEEERNEERE F—
to carried-forward contract liabilities and how much FEBETHNEOETEBRNEE !
relates to performance obligations that were satisfied in
a prior year:
2024 2023
20245 20234
HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FHET TFAET
Revenue recognised that was BETHRTNENEAR
included in the contract liability 45 8RN A B FESR
balance at the beginning of W=
the period = =
Revenue recognised from M BEIAEEET

performance obligations satisfied (&8 B1T) =
(or partially satiated) in previous BASEER 2

periods (Note) e (FsE) - =
Note: The revenue recognised during the year is mainly due to Mzt : FRNERIWABFEHHANRET
the changes in transactions price of certain construction BESHNRZERESEFT -
contracts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%= -H

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

21. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

()  Unsatisfied long-term revenue contracts

The following table shows the expected timing of
recognising revenue for the unsatisfied performance

ENEERSNEE ®

© FKRETHRAKZSEH

TRITHEE B RARm AT
RETHBROBEED R DA TARE

obligations resulting from fixed-price long-term revenue EE
contracts.
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#T FET
Within one year —&FR 133,169 203,794
22. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 22. HEKRIRITHEER
Bank balances carry interest at variable market rates which IRITAERID Y BTt B FBF) =&

range from 0.0% to 0.3% (2023: 0.0% to 0.3%).

The carrying amounts of the cash and bank balances are

B F0.0%ZE0.3% (20235 : 0.0%ZFE03%) ©

RERBTEFIRAEBERQTERS I

approximate their fair values and are denominated in the U5 EHEEHE -
following currencies:
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FAET TFET
HKS VEwam 21 17
RMB NG 42,205 46,534
42,226 46,551
Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the ARERRAIIEBEZHEINESHEIE
PRC's Foreign Exchange Contract Regulations. RBIFRR ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E12831 BIEEE

23. DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The natures of items giving rise to deferred income tax assets
and liabilities and their respective movements in deferred
income tax assets during the year without taking into
consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax
jurisdiction are as follows:

23. EIMEFR1FHR

SIBELEFSREERBRNEENME
RERFRERELEFSREETNSBEH

FEZEE—RMKEEERANBGEEHRET) W
T

Loss
allowance
for trade
and bills
receivables Accelerated
and contract tax
assets  depreciation Tax losses Total
=)
REKER
RENEE
BRERE NMERERE REBR st
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TEL TER TER TERT
At 1 January 2023 20231818 1272 52 = 1324
(Charged)/credited to consolidated (NBRE) /FHAGERER
statement of profit and loss and Ht2Emlm®
other comprehensive income 296 - 4,195 4,491
Exchange differences ERELE 131 = (25) 106
At 31 December 2023 120235128318 1699 52 4170 5,921
At 1 January 2024 20241818 1,699 52 4,170 5,921
(Charged)/credited to consolidated (0RRE) /FAGEBRER
statement of profit and loss and HthzmEmla®
other comprehensive income 1,517 = (4,111) (2,594)
Exchange differences ERER (43) = (59) (102)
At 31 December 2024 1220245128318 3,173 52 - 3,225

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carried-
forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related tax
benefit through future taxable profits is probable. At the end
of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$93,403,000 (2023: HK$98,845,000) available
for offset against future profits. The tax loss of approximately
HK$22,402,000 (2023: HK$22,402,000) may be carried forward
indefinitely and the remaining tax loss of approximately
HK$71,001,000 (2023: HKS76,443,000) will be expired within 5
years from the end of reporting period.

Annual Report 2024 &% CT Vision S.L.

MRS R R KA BEBE B AR K ERR =
MEIREF AR AEERIEE IR IEIERT
BREE -RBEHFR AEEEBRITER
TEE5484993,403,00078 75 (20234 © 98,845,000
Bro) AR RRERN RIBEEHELN
22,402,00078 75 ( 20234F : 22,402,000%7T) B
ERHAAEE AR TR IBRE51E4Y71,001,000787T

(20235 : 76,443,00078 70) #FFR ¥R & HASKE
ST RFEANERT
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eI MIET

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

23.

24,

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued) 23. EIEFRIFIR @
Deferred income tax liabilities of approximately HK$4,779,000 IRIEFT1SIR B 15494,779,00058 75 (20234
(2023: HK$5,007,000) have not been provided for the 5,007,0007870) WETLIHT B AN REHR
withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted F]#947,790,00078 7t (20234 : 50,070,000787T)
earnings of subsidiaries of approximately HK$47,790,000 RAPBEEN 2 TR EH R o REL R
(2023: HK$50,070,000) in the PRC. The unremitted earnings TRARBRE-FERNERRTES KA
are used for reinvestment. The income tax liability is not B B RE A1 22 O] By Py Z= RERYBS S » 7R
recognised, because the Group is able to control the timing BRI ER G BRI R E%R
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
SHARE CAPITAL 24, fg7s
Number of shares Share capital
Rir&E i
HKS$'000
FHET
Authorised: VETE
Ordinary shares at HK$0.01 each FROOEBTHEER
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 7R2023F181H ~ 20234
2023, 1 January 2024 and 128318 20241818 &
31 December 2024 20249128318 1,560,000,000 15,600
Issued and fully paid: BETREE
At 1 January 2023 52202318 1H 760,830,000 7,608
Issuance of authorised ordinary FR20238E 128220 81735
shares on 22 December 2023 Ziahe (e
(Note 1) 90,000,000 900
At 31 December 2023 112023 12H31H 850,830,000 8,508
Issuance of authorised ordinary BITEEEBR
shares (Note 2) (My5E2) 77,176,000 772
At 31 December 2024 #2024%F12831H 928,006,000 9,280
Note 1: st -

On 28 July 2023, the Company and CT Vision Investment
Limited entered into a subscription agreement in respect of
the subscription of 90,000,000 ordinary shares of HKS$S0.01
each to CT Vision Investment Limited at a price of HK$0.40
per share. The subscription was completed on 22 December
2023 and the premium on the issue of shares, amounting to
approximately HK$35,100,000 net of share issue expenses of
HK$1,370,000, was credited to the Company’s share premium
account.

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F

1R2023FE7H28B A ABEFP R AERERR
NEFIURERE NREBEPREERER
PRA T % & PR0.4078 T VB 8 88 90,000,000 8%
FRONBTHEER -FVEEEER20235F12
B22H5E B9 ZEITH R EAY35,100,00078 7T
(BERAR 1D 8 1TR921,370,000%8 7T) Est AZS
NERRD HEER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

24.

25.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Note 2:

On 28 July 2023, the Company and a placing agent entered into
a placing agreement in respect of the subscription of 90,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each to CT Vision Investment Limited at a
price of HK$0.40 per share. The placing was completed on 8 January
2024 and a total of 37,176,000 new ordinary shares of the Company
have been successfully placed by the placing agent to not less than
six places; and the total consideration is approximately HK$14,423,000,
net of shares issues expenses of approximately HK$447,000

On 8 January 2024, the Company and an independent third party
investor entered into a subscription agreement in respect of the
subscription of 40,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each to the
independent third party investor at a price of HK$0.40 per share.
The subscription was completed on 11 March 2024 and the total
consideration is approximately HK$15,753,000, net of shares issues
expenses of approximately HK$247,000.

RESERVES

(@) Share premium

The share premium account is governed by the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and may be
applied by the Company subject to provisions, if any, of
its memorandum and articles of association in paying
distributions or dividends to equity shareholders.

No distribution or dividend may be paid to equity
shareholders out of the share premium account
unless immediately following the date on which the
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the
Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due in
the ordinary course of business.

(b) Other reserve

The other reserve mainly represents the deemed
contributions from and distributions to the then
controlling shareholders as a result of the reorganisation
before the listing of the shares of the Company on the
Stock Exchange.

(c) Exchange reserve

Exchange differences arising on translation of the
foreign controlled entity are recognised in other
comprehensive income as described in Note 2.6 and
accumulated in a separate reserve within equity. The
cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss when
the net investment is disposed of.
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24.

25.

7 @)

MIEE2 -

202378280 AR B E—BEEREM T
XEREREARABTDUESR40BTHERR
F£90,000,00008 SR EE0.01 B T E BRI L
FEWZ IEESHEBEMN2024F1H8HM
EEREERIIBALRAALEAREALEES
37,176,000 R A ABMEBER  BERELHOA
14,423,00078 77 » &0 BR AR (7 85 17 BE 52 49447,000
BT e

R2024F 1 B8H > A AR B —LBUE=HKE
EMBILE = AR BEEUER40B THERR
§%40,000,0000R SR EE0.01 B T E BRI L
TR Z RBEEETMN2024E3811 B 5 ) 42
B4 £15,753,0008 70 BN RIRMDEITHX
#9247,00078 7T ©

it
@ R HE

RNEERSHAEHERFERE

EARRA BRI EBERE AR ARIEX
(WmE) RET > JTHEARBAR X

AR RFEDIKSRE

PRIFN R RZ D KUK REZH
B ARBRRAENZNHEHRBESE
HBE P BRET > [TRIFEUR
17 34 8 BR 1) 48 10 IR 2R 70 Ik SR A AR
Bo

b) Hfthf#E

Hif# T E2BEAE QBRI
P EHRTETTEEMBBIERE ER
ERRRIEE KA EREZERIRERIE
HBI DK

© EREE

UM EE2 6P > A BN I B AR
EERER Z B H 2 i m RE
B W EDANEBEETRS 2
REFERRER RStEREND

HEBmo
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rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

26. B5REMENRIEA

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET TFET

Trade and retention payables B2 EMTRIER
FEIRE % 140,449 53,379
Other payables (Note) HMEHRIE () 8,485 8,969
Accrued cost to subcontractor st D B/ 55,364 24,883
Accrued employee benefits FEstEEEA 5,173 5331
Accrued operating expenses FEST R ERX 28,007 12,820
Accrued interest FEETFIE 139 139
237,617 105,521

Note:

A subsidiary of the Group has incurred legal cases from renewable

energy business in which an approximate amount of HK$2,724,000

has been provided during this year.

Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid within
credit periods which ranged from 30 to 60 days.

As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of

the trade payables based on date of invoice were follows:

MIsE -

AEEN—BRNBARTEIBERREEREA
EROARFRRG > NFEEMILLEFRY
2,724,000 BT ©

B SR ARER RN KBTI F30E60
ROEEHA T

REEHR REZAHZ2TINE ZEAR
TEREREC DA :

2024 2023
20244 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within 1 month KEEER 3,082 5,733
1to 2 months 122@A 20,690 24,322
2 to 3 months 2E3E B 59,742 3,983
Over 3 months Bl E=pY 56,935 19,341
140,449 53,379

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited X IB&# (B ) R B R A F
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

The carrying amounts of the trade and other payables are

26. BHKREMBENRIE @

B REMEBARIENKREELDUTIE

denominated in the following currencies: HEEHE -
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
HKS BT 13,947 14,651
RMB AR 223,670 90,870
237,617 105,521

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are
considered to be the same as their fair values, due to their
short-term nature.

MR BREALE B85 hEMEATRIENR
HEREHERENAFERR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
eI MIET

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

7

27. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS 27. EEEA RS

(a) Directors’ emoluments @ EEF
For the year ended 31 December 2024: HZE204F 12831 HIEFE ©
Employer’s
contribution to
a retirement Total
Fees Salary  benefit scheme emoluments
BERBA
&HEE
ik i e HH e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET THET
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wu Rui ("Mr. Wu') Rink4 (REE) - = - -
Mr. Guo Jianfeng (‘M. Guo)  ER&II& 5 (B4 ) - 1,251 27 1,278
Mr. Sun Dexin (note iii) HRELE (ki) - 700 18 718
Mr. Ding Ji (note vi) THEEE (ki) - - = =
Sub-total gt - 1,951 45 1,996
Non-Executive Directors ERITES
Mr. Lu Qiwei BEEELE - - - -
Dr. Ho (note iv) fEL (fistiv) - 1,440 36 1,476
Sub-total INEF - 1,440 36 1,476
Independent Non-Executive BIIERITES
Directors
Dr. Tang Dajie BANEL 240 - - 240
Mr.Ng Kwun Wan (note vii) ~ RBEFAE (¥t Hvi) 258 - - 258
Dr. Lin Tat Pang BiEREEL 280 - - 280
Sub-total /NEt 778 - - 778
Total st 778 3,391 81 4,250
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

27. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS

(continued)

(a)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

27. ESwENRED @

(@) EEHME

The remunerations of the directors are set out below: EEFHMETIWT
For the year ended 31 December 2023: HE2023F 12831 HIEFE ©
Employer’s
contribution to
a retirement Total
Fees Salary  benefit scheme emoluments
EBEmREAE
EHIRE]
uE g R R E73) ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FTAER FTERT AT
Executive Directors HWITESR
M. Wu Rui (‘Mr. Wu'") Eiﬁ%i (T&%%) = 100 = 100
Mr. Guo Jianfeng ('Mr. Guo’)  SBBIIE4 (T8RS ) = 1242 18 1,260
Mr.Wong Kee Chung (note ii)  EARSR5e 4 (MisEi) = 100 = 100
Mr. Sun Dexin (note iii) BEELE (ki) = 1,000 15 1015
Dr. Ho (note iv) gL (fEtiv) = 866 18 884
Sub-total NGt S 3308 51 3,359
Non-Executive Directors FHTES
Ms. Du Yi (note v) %+ (fsty) = = 0 -
Mr. Lu Qiwei BEEELE = - - -
Dr. Ho (note iv) gL (i) = 574 13 587
Sub-total NGt = 574 13 587
Independent Non-Executive B IFHITES
Directors
Dr. Tang Dajie BAAEL 280 - - 280
Mr. Ng Kwun Wan BEELE 280 - = 280
Dr. Lin Tat Pang EEEEL 280 = = 280
Sub-total gt 840 - - 840
Total 4ast 840 3,882 64 4786
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rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E{ZE2024%12831HILEE

27. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS

(continued)

(@) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Notes:

Vi,

Vi,

Salary paid to a director is generally an emolument paid
or receivable in respect of that person’s other services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the
company or its subsidiary undertakings.

Resigned as executive director on 7 March 2023.

Appointed on 7 March 2023.

Redesignated from executive director to non-executive
director on 25 April 2023.

Passed away on 12 August 2023.

Appointed on 15 April 2024.

Resigned on 2 December 2024.

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits

None

of the directors received or will receive any

retirement benefits during the year (2023: same).

(c) Directors’ termination benefits

None

of the directors received or will receive any

termination benefits during the year (2023: same).

CT Vision S.L.

27. EEENRER @

EEHM 2

5k -

INFESENHFEBERMZBA
THEBEARNEBHREMNB AT K
EAMNEMARBE SRR
B

202353 B7H B ERITES

i.  R2023F3B7HEZRE

iv.  R2023F4B25HEATERRMES
FRTES-

v.  JR2023F8H12H B e

Vi FR2024F4B1SHEERT

viil. 122024812828 BHE

ERMERARER

FRHEE S WE S W EE MR
HKR3EF (20234 : MR ©

EEMRIEER

O S 2 B U ER I A IR ERE (] 48
LEAEF] (20234 @ HHF) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

27. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS

(continued)

(d) Consideration provided to third parties for making (d)

27. EEENRER @

HENEFRBMEE =S GNE

(e)

(f)

available directors’ services

During the year, the Group did not pay consideration to
any third parties for making available directors’ services
(2023: same).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

During the year, there is no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealing arrangements in favour of directors, or
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors (2023: same).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Same as disclosed in Note 29, no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Group was a party
and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly; subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year (2023:
same).

Annual Report 2024 &R

(e)

(f)

FR AERRESENEFRBEM
AEAS =7 A ERRE (20236 :
HEE)

BRUES - REFZREFEE R
BEREARTAZEM EERREM

FRBEUEE ZES2SEGE
EREEEEASHAZCER EE
TR EMIZS (20234 : M) °

EENR S RHGHNZERER

B 5E20FF IR EE » I E B A EFEFF 2
EMAABESNHPBEEEARR
(EmEEIER WEAERXHEE
BN ERFERNTRGENATE
HEARS ZHERE4 (2023F 48
@) o
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rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

28. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 28. & R& nERMEE

OF CASH FLOWS

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HKS$'000
THET FET
Loss before tax IR BIRS1E (22,243) (20,761)
Adjustments for: HE
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- -BBERZEINE
equipment 189 337
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 2,829 4,091
Loss on settlement arrangement R L HERET 18 4,335 -
Net impairment losses on trade and B S eI & R R IR R
bills receivables and contract assets AHNEERERERTE 6,070 3,529
Finance costs 75 i A 296 969
Interest income FEWA (209) (73)
Operating cash flows before working RS EESEE 2
capital changes REWRERE (8,733) (11,908)
Changes in working capital: SEETEE .
Trade and bills receivables, deposits and B8 53 FEUS 0 IE e FEUR ZE 4% ~
other receivables B K H e U ERIE (187,674) 29,327
Contract assets ERNEE (58,614) 76,245
Trade and other payables B 5 RE MBI 203,103 (91,518)
Contract liabilities LV EAE 33,111 =
Change in inventory EFEZE) (1,693) (934)
Cash (used in)/generated & (PR /FBRe
from operations (20,500) 1,212

(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (@)
activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified in the Group's consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.

(b) Major non-cash transactions (b)

There is a settlement arrangement between the
subsidiaries of the Group with the customer and
supplier leading to the trade receivables and contracts
assets amounted to approximately HKS$69,696,000
have been offset with the trade payables and accrued
cost to subcontractor amounted to approximately
HK$65,361,000 during the year.

MEEEE S RHNHIR

TRFETEREREIHEENERE
e SREFEERIFRTEF -ME
EHEENEREERSMEBIARK
RERERNAEENGERTAE
RANDBEARE TSRS RE -

FEFRERH

AEENRBATARPR RMEERZ
BEE-IERXNZE REFERNEEE
#969,696,000/8 T B 5 BN B R &
HWEE £ EEA965,361,000/8 T8 &
SREMTIBRENDEENESTER
Frig sy o
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28.

NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  28.

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(a)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (a)
activities (continued)

meRERERWTE @

MEESHEERENERER &

Interest Amount

payable due to

(included immediate

in other Lease holding
payable) liabilities company Total

3REIIES) Bt E#

(Gt A ERAH
FffmE HERR HMIE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT THET FTERT TERT
At 1 January 2023 120231818 139 9,555 19,164 28,858
Financing cash flows RERERE (687) (4,749) 13,274 7,838
Acquisition of leases WERE = 2,107 = 2,107
Interests expenses FERER 687 282 - 969
Exchange differences ERER 5 (209) (445) (654)
At 31 December 2023 1$2023%F12H31H 139 6,986 31,993 39,118
Financing cash flows MERERE (99) (3,421) (10,341) (13,861)
Acquisition of leases WERE = 345 = 345
Interests expenses FEMZ 99 197 - 296
Exchange differences ERER = (148) (586) (734)
At 31 December 2024 120245128318 139 3,959 21,066 25,164
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rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

29. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE

For the purposes of the consolidated financial statements,
a party is considered to be related to the Group if the party
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise significant
influence over the Group in making financial and operating
decisions. Related parties may be individuals (being members
of key management personnel, significant shareholders and/
or their close family members) or other entities and include
entities which are under the significant influence of related
parties of the Group where those parties are individuals.
Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to
common control.

29. FABASINE

AR EMBMRME * H— DM EEIE
BHAEBFIFNYHREERREES
BT WA S EAEE AR - B
AEEREA BNTEEEAE - EERR
K/RREAR) AEMER SFERE
EEEANERSHEEEARENNE
B2 o REIH BRI S S TIAR A RREG T ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

29. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE (continued) 29. BABKTTIREE @
Management is of the view that the following individuals BEBIATIALTRABAEHERNE
and companies were related parties that had transactions or WEAEEBBERZ RNAERRBIRE 7 o

balances with the Group as at and during the year.

Name of related party Relationship with the Group
RAHE S T8 AL ENRF
Mr. Wu Executive Director
R4uEE HITES
Dr. Ho Executive Director
fatE+ HITES
Mr. Lee Kai Lun Executive Director
) RS ST &£ HITES
Mr. Guo Executive Director
e HITES
Mr. Wong Kee Chung Executive Director
=midREE HITES
CT Vision Investment Limited Immediate holding company
AREERERRAD BERERAT
(@) Related party balances @@ FRAES LSRR
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Amount due to the immediate BN BEZERARRIE
holding company (Note) (M%) 21,066 31,993
Note: B 5E
The balance is denominated in RMB, non-trade in nature, EHRUAREHE AIEEZHE EIK
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. HhEEBBEREREER
The carrying amount of amount due to the immediate holding ENEERERASRENREAEEEA
company approximates its fair values. TEEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

29. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE (continued)
(b) Key management personnel compensation
The remuneration of directors and senior management

who were considered as key management personnel of
the Group during the year is as follows:

29. A INE @
b) TEEEASHH

FRARGERTEETEEEAEBNE
EhEHREZABRFMMOT

2024 2023

20244 20235

HKS$'000 HKS$'000

F&T FET

Short-term benefits kG ERRE A 6,949 8,692
Pension costs — defined BIREBR A —TEE

contribution plans HERETE 135 139

7,084 8,831

30. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group does not have any material subsequent event.

30. {REHREIR

FEEREEAEABREE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245F 12831 HIEEE

31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

31. ZREMFBRRE

2024 2023
20244 20234
HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FET

Non-current assets ERBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries NI S 136,028 143,842
Interests in subsidiaries R B AR R - -
136,028 143,842

Current assets MENEE

Other receivables HihpE U FIa 60 54
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUL I B A = 7 IE - -
Cash and cash equivalents REeEMREEFEY 16 8
76 62
Total assets WEE 136,104 143,904
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E128331 BIEEE

31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 31. RABMFERRER @
THE COMPANY (continued)

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET TET
Equity R
Share capital % 9,280 8,508
Reserves (Note) f#E (T 104,323 103,006
Total equity R iEEE 113,603 111,514
Current liabilities Bt R=N
Other payables Hh I 12,217 13,004
Amount due to the immediate RN BEEERAT
holding company E QL] 10,284 19,386
22,501 32,390
Total liabilities B B4R 22,501 32,390
Total equity and liabilities HEkaEesEs 136,104 143,904
The statement of financial position of the Company was KRB BRRREHEE G 2025534
approved by the board of directors on 31 March 2025 and was NEHE THUTEEAREE !
signed on its behalf.
Guo Jianfeng Sun Dexin
]S BiEE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
o EE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE20245E12831 BIEEE

31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

31. XATMERAEK @

Note: M 5E
Reserves movement of the Company RN EEEES
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
iRz E Ritks1E #aEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2023 1120231 A 1H 278,775 (184,824) 93,951
Loss and total comprehensive loss for ~ FEEEIE R EEBELE
the year - (24,675) (24,675)
Issuance of ordinary shares, net of BITEBR BINRRSZMA
transactions costs 33,730 - 33,730
At 31 December 2023 72023F12831H 312,505 (209,499) 103,006
Loss and total comprehensive loss FEBBREEEBEEERE
for the year - (28,087) (28,087)
Issuance of ordinary shares, net of BEITEBR
transaction costs [SEEIETI %N 29,404 = 29,404
At 31 December 2024 720244128318 341,909 (237,586) 104,323
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Financial Summary

RAT A&

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for ~ANEBBFRAENREENEELEEREEH

the last five financial years are as follows. EW e
Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31ALEE
RESULTS e 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 2023 20224F 20214F 20204F

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER TAET TET TET TET

Continuing and discontinued FERBELESE

operations E
Revenue W 558,058 345,847 297,485 355,524 250,889
Loss before tax BRIGAIES TR (22,243) (20,761) (89,556) (101,626) (55,060)
Income tax expense PRIGIRFISZ (4,264) (1,888) (1,428) (1,424) (1,104)
Loss for the year FERBE (26,507) (22,649) (90,984) (103,050) (56,164)
At 31 December
M12831H

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAGRE 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 20234 20226 20214 20204

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FET FET FET FET

Total assets EEMEE 412,061 259,387 331,274 461,170 536,193
Total liabilities BEEE (306,909) (154,976) (235,943) (265,660) (241,354)
Net assets BEFE 105,152 104,411 95,331 195,510 294,839

This annual report is published in both English and Chinese ZAREIFRM AR F|E c ME YR A H EMA L
languages. Should there be any inconsistency between the Chinese i » BE A X AR A& ZE ©
and English versions, the English version shall prevail.
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